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THE expedition and disastrous retreat of Colonel
Monson is an event too painfully interesting to

be dismissed with the imperfect notice taken of
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it by Skinner, though, from his thorough infor-
mation, it must be, so far as it goes, perfectly
authentic. It was, in fact, the first important inci-
dent of the new war, in which the principal sub-
ject of this memoir took a very active part; and
therefore, independently of its intrinsic interest,
we think it proper to explain to our readers how
it arose and was carried on.

The first Mahratta war, which was virtually
terminated in one campaign by the battle of
Laswarree in Hindostan, and that of Argaum
and the capture of Gawilghur in the Dekhan,
was waged only against Sindea and Bhoun-
slah. Holcar, whom Sindea had in vain in-
vited to join the confederacy, held aloof, though
he had vaguely promised assistance. His con-
duct, as Mr. Grant Duff observes, was precisely
that of a cautious, designing Mahratta. Dread-
ing as he did the power and hereditary enmity
of Sindea, he was by no means ill-pleased at the
chance of his rival being somewhat crippled by
a collision with the British ; and even should they
be worsted, and the advantage remain with that
rival, his own power would be all the more entire
and fit to resist whatever might come upon him,
by keeping clear of the fray. Like his father and
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his whole family, he leant to the predatory rather
than the regular system of making war, and trusted
that, by avoiding fair fighting and laying waste
the country round his enemy, he should cripple
him more effectually than by assailing him with
regular infantry and cannon.

This impression may account for the some-
what daring hope he must have entertained of
being able, single-handed, to accomplish what both
Sindea and Bhounslah could not effect together,
and not only to withstand, but to defeat the power
which had prostrated them in a single campaign.
But he did not despise assistance. On the con-
trary, he sought it, on grounds of mutual interest,
from the Rajepoots, the Jhats, the Rohillas, and
the Sikhs ; and, though last not least, from Ameer
Khan, the Pindarree chief, who, indeed, may be
regarded as one of his own dependants. He even
attempted to persuade Sindea to renew the strug-
gle, and though fruitlessly at the time, either
Sindea or his ministers appear to have left the
matter open so far as to be able to act as circum-
stances should determine, though they commu-
nicated the overture to the British authorities at
the time. ‘

There, indeed, had long been suspicions of Hol-

B2
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car, though it would have been inconvenient to
bring matters to a rupture while their hands were
otherwise full. He had made inroads on districts
they regarded as under British protection, and
had ruined Malwa by enormous exactions, levied
on a system.of cruel force, as yet unheard of
save by barbarians in a plundering inroad. From
the town of Mundissore, the emporium of com-
merce from all quarters, he forced, by treachery
and torture, immense sums. No trifle was too
slight, no merchandize too cumbrous ; even furni-
ture and women’s ornaments were snatched to
make up the sum, which exceeded from this
devoted town alone a million sterling.* He was
roused from his system of robbery, by accounts
of the incredible course of victory by which the
English had delivered Hindostan, and he now
resolved to act, though still maintaining the tone
of negociation. His letters, indeed, were of a
very inconsistent character; at one time breathing
threats and insult, at another protesting that his
friendship was sincere and lasting. As he moved
towards Rajepootanah he wrote to Lord Lake, re-
questing him to retire towards Agra, “as his
near apprdach to his victorious army might lead
* Sir John Malcolm’s “ Central India.”
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to unpleasant circumstances;” and almost in his
next he declares that the General shall never have
from him any language but that of friendship ;
but if any other than friendly words should come
Jrom him, then he, Holcar, would be helpless.
To General Wellesley he wrote, threatening that,
though unable to face his guns, ‘“countries of
many hundred cds shall be overrun, he (Lake)
shall not have leisure to breathe for a moment,
and calamity will fall on lakhs of human beings
by a continued war, in which my army will over-
whelm all like the waves of the sea.”

Questions and negotiations succeeded each other,
and the savage murder of his three English officers,
Tod, Ryan, and Vickers, aggravated the growing
quarrel. It was obvious that further temporizing
was but playing the enemy’s game, and that,
unless something were speedily done, Rajepoo-
tanah would be rendered a waste, like northern
Malwa. The inevitable war was commenced, and
the first measure taken was that of the celebrated
expedition under Colonel Monson, which was sent
on the 23rd of April to drive Holcar from the
territory of Jeypore. This was soon effected,
Holcar rapidly retired to the southward as the de-
tachment approached; and on Lord Lake making
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a demonstration with the rest of the army, he con-
tinued his route across the Chumbul, and regained
his own frontier.

On the 6th of May, the fort of Tonk Ram-
poorash was gallantly stormed by Lieutenant-
Colonel Don : on which Lord Lake sent the main
army back to cantonments, leaving Colonel Mon-
son with five battalions of native infantry, and
about 3,000 irregular horse, under Lieutenant
Lucan and Bappoojee Sindea, to keep Holcar in
check. It had been intended that a detachment
to co-operate with Colonel Monson should be sent
from Guzerat under Colonel Murray ; but the
junction never took place. Trusting to this, how-
ever, it appears Colonel Monson entered Holcar’s
country by the Mookundra pass to the southward
of Kotah, took the strong hill-fort of Hinglaisghur
by escalade, a most gallant and brilliant exploit,
and advanced fifty miles south of the pass, into
Malwa, where he expected to communicate with
Murray ; then, hearing that Holcar had recrossed
the Chumbul, probably on hearing of General
Lake’s return to quarters, the Colonel made a
forward movement to meet and fight him. But
shortness of provisions alarmed him; and having
‘now learned from Colonel Murray, that, instead
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of advancing to effect & junction, he meant to fall
back upon the Myhie river, Monson resolved also
to retire backwards by the Mookundra pass.

On the 8th of July, this disastrous retreat com-
menced. The baggage and stores were sent off
at four in the morning, while Monson remained
in order of battle, on the ground of his encamp-
ment, till half-past nine. No enemy appearing,
he commenced his march, leaving the irregular
cavalry behind, with orders to follow in half an
hour, and bring intimation of what the enemy
was about. The detachment had marched only
six cos, when intelligence came that the irregular
cavalry had been attacked and defeated by Hol-
car’s horse, and while orders were given for the
troops to form and support the rear-guard, Bap-
poojee Sindea rode up to say that the force had
been cut up, and Lieutenant Lucan with the
other officers, after a brave defence, were wounded
and made prisoners. On this, the order was
countermanded as useless, and the march was
continued to Sondrd which the baggage had
already reached. On the following morning,
the 9th, the army moved again, and reached
the Mookundra pass the same day at noon.

On the morning of the 10th, a large body of



8 MEMOIRS OF COLONEL SKINNER.

the enemy’s cavalry made their appearance, and
increased in numbers until noon of the following
day, when Holcar summoned the detachment to
surrender theirarms. This being contemptuously
refused, he divided his force into three bodies,
with which he vigorously attacked the British
in front and flanks. But he was gallantly and
successfully repulsed in every effort; till, at the
approach of night, he drew off some three miles
distance, intending, as was supposed, to attack,
with the aid of his infantry and guns, which had
now come up.

Monson, not deeming his post tenable against
such a force, and fearing to have his retreat cut
off, resolved to march and reach Kotah in two
days, much harassed by unfavourable weather
and the flooded state of the country; but the
men behaved well, repeatedly repulsing the enemy
with material loss, while suffering little them-
selves.

At Kotah, Zalim Sing declined to admit the
troops within the walls; and, it is said, would not
supply them with provisions of which they were
much in want. Colonel Tod denies that, on the
part of Zalim Sing, and asserts, that he not only
offered to furnish them with food, but did send
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troops to assist and protect their rear, when a
brave chief (of Coelah) and many of his party
were slain.* However this may be, Monson
continued his route towards the Gaumuch ford,
a distance of only seven miles; but which, from
the depth of the mud and incessant rain, took
a whole night to accomplish; and when they did
reach it, the rivulet was too much swollen to be
fordable. They therefore halted here, not only
until it should fall, but to procure a supply of
provisions from the neighbouring village of Put-
tun. On the 15th, the march was resumed; but
the guns sunk so deep in the mud that they could
not be extricated, and were therefore rendered
useless, and abandoned; but they were recom-
mended to the care of the Rajah of Boondee, who
remained stanch to his engagements, in the face
of Holcar.

On the 17th, the troops reached the Chumbulee
rivulet, which was not fordable ; but the artillery-
men were crossed the next day on elephants, with
orders to proceed to Rampoorah. For nearly ten
days was the gradual passage of the detachment
effected by elephants and rafts, and some by a

«ford” lower down, during which time they were
* Tod’s “ Rajepootanah,” vol. ii. p. 549.
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constantly harassed by attacks of the enemy, and
still more distressed by privations of all sorts;
many of the men were drowned in crossing the
Chumbulee, and many of the poor sepoys had to
deplore the loss of their wives or children, left,
often necessarily, on the.opposite banks till the
last, and then murdered within sight of their
husbands by the Bheels from the neighbouring
hills, who were in Holcar’s interest. On the
21st, Captain Odonnel destroyed a camp of the
enemy’s, and took several camels and horses; and
as the troops were crossing on the 24th, Colonel
Monson, with only 700 men, maintained a sharp
contest with the enemy’s cavalry, who withdrew
at sunset with considerable loss, the British only
losing twenty in killed and wounded.

It was the 27th of July before Colonel Monson
and all the troops arrived at Rampoorah, which
they reached in a most exhausted state. Here,
however, the Colonel had the satisfaction of being
joined by two battalions of sepoys, with four
6-pounders and two howitzers, and a body of
irregular horse, under Major Frith, with a supply
of grain from Agra, all sent by General Lake, on
hearing of the situation of the detachment at the
Mookundra pass. Yet, notwithstanding this re-
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lief, and all that could be procured at Rampoorah,
the Colonel resolved to pursue his march to
Khooshalghur, where he expected to find a further
reinforcement of six of Sindea’s battalions, with
twenty-one guns. Leaving, therefore, a strong
garrison at Rampoorah with the field-pieces, the
detachment, now consisting of five battalions of
Bengal sepoys with the two howitzers, reached
the Bunas river at daybreak on the 22nd of
August. But it was not fordable, and three
boats having been found, one of the battalions
was sent across by their means with the treasure,
with orders to proceed to Khooshalghur.

Next morning the enemy appeared, and pitched
their camp about four miles distant from the
British detachment. On the morning of the
24th, the river having fallen, Monson began to
transport across his baggage. The greater part
of this, along with four battalions, had crossed,
and the 2nd battalion of the 2nd Bengal sepoys,
who, under command of Major James Sinclair, had
been left as a rear-guard, were preparing to follow
with the piquets, as soon as the rest should have
passed, when the enemy, many of whose cavalry
had by this time crossed above and below the
British position, brought up their infantry and
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guns, and about four in the afternoon opened a
heavy cannonade on the small body of English
still on that side the river.

They were led to the charge by the gallant
Major Sinclair, and drove the enemy from their
guns as fast as they formed in battery against
them. But fresh troops poured in, and fresh bat-
teries showered grape upon them, until, thinned
and overpowered, they were forced to retreat,
and the remnant of this gallant band crossed the
river under the fire of the battalions on the other
side, who came down to the bank to check the
enemy. But the loss was calamitous; thirteen
European officers, with their brave commander,
having fallen in this desperate charge. The whole
detachment, indeed, suffered severely; and the
enemy pressing his advantage, Monson was forced
to abandon his baggage, and fly to Khooshalghur,
which he reached on the night of the 25th of
August, after repulsing several desultory attacks
of the enemy’s cavalry.

At this place, they found that Sedasheo Bhow,
who had been sent to their assistance, intended, as
a preliminary in the way of his vocation, to levy
a contribution on the town of Khooshalghur,
which Captain Nichols, who had escorted the
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treasure thither, resolved to prevent. The Bhow,
enraged, opened his guns upon the place, and
then attempted an attack with his infantry; but
both were repulsed by Captain Nichols, with a
severe loss to the Mahrattas.

On the morning of the 26th, the whole of the
enemy’s cavalry encamped in separate bodies
around the detachment. But the most disheart-
ening circumstance in their case, was the dis-
covery of a correspondence between some of the
native officers and the enemy, and, though imme-
diate measures were adopted to check the mis-
chief, two companies of infantry and a large pro-
portion of the irregular cavalry deserted to the
enemy. On the same day Monson quitted the
fort, having spiked the remaining howitzer, and
forming his troops into an oblong square, resumed
his march. During that night and the following
day, the enemy’s cavalry, supported by some guns,
attempted, but unsuccessfully, to penetrate the
square. On the night of the 27th, they took pos-
session of the ruined fort of Hindoun, and at
one o’clock next morning continued their retreat
towards Agra. They had no sooner cleared the
ravines near Hindoun, however, than a desperate
charge, in three separate bodies, was made upon
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them by the enemy’s horse; but the sepoys re-
serving their fire till the enemy had come up
almost to the bayonet points, it told with great
effect, and they fled in all directions. At sunset
on the 28th, they reached the Biana pass, where,
from the exhausted and suffering condition of the
troops, Colonel Monson halted, and would have
passed the night; but the enemy brought up his
guns, and opened so galling a fire that he was
forced to prosecute the retreat, which was con-
tinued to the town of Biana. But the night was
dark, the camp followers and baggage got mixed
with the line, the troops were thrown into inex-
tricable confusion, order could no more be re-
stored, the troops fairly broke and fled ; and such
as escaped the straggling parties of the enemy—
for there was no further regular attack—made
their way to Agra, which they reached, in flying
and detached groups, on the 31st of August.

Such was the disastrous retreat from Mookun-
dra, the result of which, though certainly occa-
sioned in some degree by unavoidable misfortunes
and the untowardness of the season for military
operations, cannot, we think, be viewed by those
who know the sepoys, as free from mistakes,
which a more intimate knowledge of that gallant
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body of men might have avoided. And there is
the greater reason for believing this, from the
fact, recorded by Skinner himself, of a serjeant
having marched into Agra with about 1,500 ot
the sepoys, whom he and some native officers had
rallied and collected into a body when the flight
took place.

To remedy so serious a disaster, and to prepare,
not only to repulse a victorious enemy, but to
repress the rebellious spirit of those already sub-
dued, yet still discontented, became now an im-
perative obligation; and the courage and resources
of the Commander-in-chief were equal to the
emergency. Even the cruel dispositions of the
tyrant turned to his own loss, for the mutilated
sepoys who escaped his hands roused the indig-
nation of their brethren, and not only excited a
spirit of retaliation, but caused even deserters to
flock again to their colours. But while the various
arrangements were in progress, Holcar, with
60,000 horse of all sorts, 15,000 infantry, and
192 guns, advanced rapidly to Muttra, which was
abandoned at his approach. Parties of his horse
even crossed the Jumna, but were soon driven
back, and on the 1st of October, Lord Lake, with
his army, marched from Secundra, where it had
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been assembled to attack Holcar’s camp at Mut~
tra. But that chief had no intention whatever of
making a stand. He fled immediately at the first
discharge of a galloper gun; and though many
efforts were made to surprise his camp, the vigi-
lance of fear and habitual predatory precaution
prevented his sustaining any serious loss.

‘At an early hour on the 10th,” says Major
Thorn, “another attempt was made to bring the
enemy to an engagement, for which purpose the
infantry moved in the same direction as before,
whilst the cavalry made a greater circuit to the
right to cut off their retreat; but they were so
much on their guard since the last affair, that
they had posts out in all directions, who by firing
matchlocks and burning lights gave the signal of
alarm. Our cavalry formed in two lines, moved
in columns of half regiments at regular intervals.
In this order, we swept clear the whole plain
where the enemy were encamped, at a full gallop ;
but we could not succeed in our endeavour.to
charge them, for they scampered off in all direc-
tions, dispersing as usual. 'When we halted, they
did the same, rallied, and stood gazing at us, and
when we turned our backs to return home, they
dashed on, attacking our rear and flanks, firing
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long shots from their matchlocks, while those who
were armed with spears and tulwars, flourished
their weapons, making at the same time a noise
like jackalls, by way of bravado. On this occa-
sion, about thirty of the :enemy were killed, and
several made prisoners, who naturally enough
expected to meet with the most severe treatment,
in retaliation for the perfidious cruelties com-
mitted by the master, of whom they gave this
curious account, that he was the first to run away.
Instead, however, of that vengeance which these
men looked for at our hands, they received each a
rupee by order of their general, who dismissed
them with this message to their chief, that none
but cowards treated their prisoners with cruelty.”

The unavoidable delay of our army at Muttra
had, however, afforded to Holcar an opportunity
of striking a blow, which, if successful, might
have had serious consequences. This was no less
than, by a coup-de-main, to surprise Dehlee, and
get possession of the emperor’s person, to which,
fallen as he was, public opinion in Hindostan still
attached much of veneration and traditional impor-
tance. For this purpose the whole of his infantry
and artillery were detached from his army, under
command of an adopted-son, Hurnaut, and on the

VOL. II (o]
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8th of October commenced their attack upon the
Moghul capital. Colonel Ochterlony, the British
resident at the emperor’s court, with his usual
sagacity, had suspected this intention of Holcar,
from the time he reached Khooshalghur, and had
prudently called in Colonel Burn and his detach-
ment from Seharunpore, a battalion, late of
Sindea’s, under Major Harriot, from Rohtuck,
and one of Nujeebs, under Lieutenant Birch,
from Paneeput; and to these were added, about
1,200 matchlock-men of various sorts, and four
companies of the 17th regiment. But this force,
after all, amounted only to two battalions and
four companies of sepoys, about 800 Telingas
of Sindea’s, two corps of irregular cavalry, and
Birch’s Nujeebs, with the matchlock-men. Of
these troops one-third, or 800 of the regular
sepoys, were required by the resident in the
palace itself, to guard the emperor’s person. One
of the corps of irregular horse went over to the
enemy at his approach; the second, being found
utterly useless, and not to be depended on, was
sent off across the Jumna into the Doab, and the
Nujeebs mutinied on pretence of want of pay,
though only fourteen days’ pay was due to them.
The mutiny, indeed, was suppressed; some were
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blown from a gun, others were flogged; but the
corps was annihilated. The other corps remained
faithful to their duty. And to the honour of all
be it recorded, that not another desertion occurred
during the whole of this most remarkable and
arduous defence.

This, with but few and very insufficient artillery,
was, a8 will be admitted, a most inadequate gar-
rison for a city seven miles in circumference, with
no works, save an old ruinous wall of the worst
description of masonry—in many places, without
a parapet fit to mount a gun upon, or able
to stand the shock of one if fired — without a
ditch, and surrounded on all sides by ruins and
cover, up to the very foot of the wall ; add to this,
a most turbulent and idle-disposed population, and
it will not be denied that its defenders had no
envisble task in having to protect it against an
army of 15,000 regular infantry with nearly 200
guns, and backed by 60,000 borse.

The question was, whether, with such inadequate
means, the defence should be limited to the fort or
palace, abandoning the city to its fate? But
Colonel Burn, who, as senior officer, had assumed
the command, considering the evil effect it would
bave upon the British name were the city given

c2
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up, resolved, on his own responsibility, to defend
both as long as possible.

Although the enemy did not take this brave
garrison unaware, there was yet but scanty time
to make the needful arrangements: but redoubts
were erected at the Ajmere and Toorkoman gates,
and some part of the rampart was strengthened
for guns. On the 7th, Holcar’s horse made
their appearance, and after an attempt at recon-
noitering and driving them back, on the part of
Lieutenant Rose, Captain Carnegie, and Lieu-
tenant Hunter, which was defeated by the cowar-
dice of the irregular cavalry, the troops retired
within the walls. Next day, the 8th, the enemy’s
infantry and artillery approached in force, and
commenced a heavy cannonade upon the south-
east angle of the city wall: and, though com-
pelled to withdraw by the fire from the garrison,
some thirty or forty feet of the parapet had fallen
from the concussion of its own guns, or been
levelled by the enemy’s shot. During the night,
breaching batteries were erected, which totally
destroyed the parapet and made partial breaches
in the wall: and, as it was probably here the first
attempt would be made, it was resolved to check
the enemy’s progress by a sally. This did not,
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however, take place until the 10th, when Lieu-
tenant John Rose,* aide-de-camp to Colonel Burn,
with 200 sepoys, 150 Nujeebs, a reserve of fifty
men and a 6-pounder, moved out to the attack.
It was eminently successful ; they gained the bat-
tery, spiked the guns, and retreated with very
little loss, leaving the enemy fighting each other
in the confusion and the darknesa.

A battery of two heavy guns had been erected
the same day by Captain Keating; and, when the
enemy again opened their guns from the battery
which had been stormed, both it and the more
distant ones were silenced by the Captain’s well-
directed fire. On this the enemy drew off,
and commenced operations on the southern face
of the city, and all within the walls remained
watching with vigilant anxiety for the next
attack. Their heaviest guns were now placed
opposite the curtain between the Toorkoman and
Ajmere gates, under cover of some gardens and
ruins. A breach was soon effected; but a work
thrown up inside, cutting off the breached part,
rendered that of no use to them, and the men
worked hard and willingly to accomplish this im-
portant operation.

* Now Major-General Sir John Rose, K.C.B.
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On the 14th, at daybreak, the enemy’s guns
opened from every direction, and, under cover of
this cannonade, an escalade by infantry in large
numbers was tried at the Lahore gate; but they
were driven back with much loss in men, and all
their ladders. Unfortunately, Lieut. Simpson, of
the 17th regiment, was killed by a cannon-shot.
After this, no further desperate attack was
attempted. A show was made at the Cashmere
gate, but, before the morning of the 15th, the
enemy’s whole force had moved off, and at day-
break their rear-guard was seen at a distance by
the weary garrison, who for eight days and nights
had been incessantly but cheerfully struggling to
save the place. Such is a short narrative of the
chief events of this memorable defence; but it is
not easy to convey an idea of the persevering
exertions by ‘which success was attained. The
fatigue suffered by both men and officers could
only be equalled by the cheerful patience with
which it was borne. And when we consider not
only the defenceless condition in which this small
body of men was exposed to the assault of an
organized and well-supplied multitude, but the
state of feeling in the country from the late
triumph of that enemy, and the disastrous defeat
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80 recently sustained, it may give some idea
of what the sepoy really is, and what he will do
when led by officers whom he loves and con-
fides in. And little often is the trifle which will
cheer them to extra toil and extra danger. A
small allowance of sweetmeats, in addition to
their daily provisions—for they had no time to
- cook food—was found on this occasion to have
the happiest effect upon the men, and half a
month’s pay of gratuity, when the enemy was
repulsed, rendered them grateful and happy.
Kindness and firmness on the part of their officer,
and a full reliance on his judgment, will kindle
the zeal and devotion of the sepoy to any exer-
tion. Both Colonel Ochterlony and Colonel Burn
knew them well, and richly did their country
reap the fruits of their knowledge, and of their
intrepid firmness, in the siege of Dehlee.

‘We do not pretend to give an account of the
war, and though we cannot refrain from advert-
ing at some length to remarkable feats of gal-
lantry, our purpose in these notes is merely to
follow the course of Colonel Skinner’s career, and
to give so much of the general current events
as may serve to explain and illustrate it. We
therefore pass over the rapid movements which
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took place on either side by the contending par-
ties, and in which it will be seen that Skinner
had his share. Even the celebrated battle of
Deeg must not detain us long, although there,
in spite of a position deemed impregnable, and
chosen by his own generals, Holcar, in one morn-
ing’s work, lost nearly a hundred of his guns, his
two best commanders, more than 2,000 of his
infantry, with the field, and his character for
good fortune. But we must drop one word of
regret for the loss of the gallant General Fraser,
and many other brave officers, for the field was
not won without the loss of 643 killed and
wounded, of whom five officers were among the
first, and seventeen among the second list. Nor
can it be uninteresting to mention that, among
the captured artillery, Colonel Monson found
fourteen of his own guns, and several ammunition
tumbrils, lost during his unfortunate retreat.
Four days after this brilliant success, Holcar
received another check to his pride, in being sur-
prised in his camp, in spite of his boasted alertness.
After a rapid and destructive run through the
Doab, burning, plundering, and destroying, Hol-
car came to Futtehghur, and had encamped there
in safety, as he believed, being thirty-six miles
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ahead of the pursuing force. But General Lake,
by a forced night march, and led by excellent
intelligence, reached the outskirts of the enemy’s
camp just as day was breaking, on the morning
of the 17th. Holcar had heard, just the evening
before, at a nautch, the news of the battle of
Deeg, but he said nothing to his chiefs, and
retired to his tents as usual. An artillery tumbril
blew up towards morning in the British line of
march, and started him; but they told him it
was the morning gun from Futtehghur, and he
believed it. Even when the firing commenced,
such confidence had he in his spies, that he could
not believe it was Lord Lake, as they told him.
All seemed to combine to lull his usual acuteness
to sleep. The men, wrapt in their blankets,
were still sleeping by their piqueted horses,
when they were roused by showers of grape; and
before those who had not been sent to their last
slumber could rise and look about them, the King’s
8th Light Dragoons were amongst them, cutting
them down right and left; the other regiments
soon galloped up and did the same, so that the
plain was soon covered with the bodies of the dead.

Holcar, too late convinced, mounted his horse,
and never stopped till he was eighteen miles dis-
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tant, on the road to Mynpooree. The rest, left
to themselves, dispersed or were cut up. Some,
whose horses were even more jaded than ours, by
their desperate marches, climbed into the mango
trees, and thus escaped for the time. But some of
them, unable to resist firing on the dragoons as
they passed, were discovered and shot among the
branches. For ten miles did the pursuit continue,
and as the night march was good fifty-eight miles,
the cavalry had thus ridden over a space of seventy
miles in twenty-four hours, an almost unparalleled
feat, especially after a most harassing march of 350
miles within the previous fortnight.* The loss
of the British was trifling—scarce twenty men.
That of Holcar, severe in itself, being not less than
3,000 men upon the ground, was infinitely more
so from its consequences. By desertions and dis-
persions, his force, on that morning reckoned at
60,000 men, was so reduced that he never mus-
tered half that number again, and, what was still
worse, he lost his nam, his prestige, which, from
his first successes, had risen high in Hindostan.
Among other fortunate consequences of this
* It was the training in that and such marches that

enabled both horse and man to perform such extraordinary
feats, and even to beat Holcar at his own tactics.
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victory, was the saving of the European civilians
and merchants, who, abandoning the open can-
tonment, had taken refuge in the fort. There
they defended themselves bravely, but could not
have long held out; and happy were the almost
despairing gentlemen of Futtehpore and Mynpoo-
ree, when the yellow coats of “ Skinner’s horse”
made their appearance as their deliverers.

There yet remained one blow to complete the
fall of Holcar, and that was the capture of the
strong fortress of Deeg. This, as well as Bhurt-
pore, was the stronghold of the Jhats, and the
Rajah of the latter place, so well known in Indian
warfare, had been the dependant rather than the
ally of Holcar ever since the rise of that chieftain
to power. The loss of his guns and infantry, and
his subsequent defeat near Futtehghur, had re-
duced him to a change of condition ; he had now
become rather dependant on the Rajah, and the
fortress of Deeg was manned by their joint forces:
for their interests were now too closely united for
one to fall without bringing down the other.

On the 13th of December, the batteries opened
against Deeg; on the 23rd, the breach was
stormed in the usual gallant and irresistible way ;
and though the enemy’s men, particularly the
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Golunduz, or artillerists, fought with the most
resolute bravery, never quitting their guns till
bayoneted at them to a man, and though a fierce
and most bloody conflict was maintained through-
out the whole of this most arduous day, by two
o'clock of the following morning, the town, the
shahbourg, and outworks, with all their guns, were
in possession of the British. The garrison of
the inner fort, dispirited and hopeless, were seen
streaming off in parties during that day ; and on
the morning of Christmas 1804, both town and
fort, with all the remaining artillery of Holecar,
his stores of grain and some treasure, remained
in the hands of the besiegers.

It falls not in with our duty or our plan, to
touch upon the seige of Bhurtpore, with its four
most gallant though disastrous assaults. Heavy
and sad as was the loss of life before its ill-omened
walls, the sacrifice was not altogether in vain: for
it convinced the Rajah of his own impotence to
resist a power which had pulled down princes so
much his superior, and which must soon exhaust
his own resources and destroy him. And though
“ Bhurtpore” continued for long to be a taunt
and a reproach to us in Upper India, those who
knew us best were well aware that a timely
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submission alone saved the Jhat prince from
the fate of his allies. As for Holcar, baffled,
beaten, and dishonoured, stripped of his guns
and his troops, the fortresses of his family in
our hands, with scarce a home to fly to, this free-
booter who crossed the Chumbul with 70,000 men
and 200 guns, breathing arrogant threats of ruin
and extermination to the British, in less than ten
short months fled before that power, and re-
crossed that river a wandering fugitive with
scarce 8,000 horse and 4,000 or 5,000 infantry.

On the 21st of April, the army broke up from
before Bhurtpore, and crossing the Chumbul,
made a progress towards Bundelcund, forming
a junction with the division, which was acting
in that quarter and arranging treaties with the
chiefs. They returned from thence in May, and
in the beginning of June were distributed in
quarters for the rainy season along the west
side of the Jumna.

Thus terminated these two bright and rapid
campaigns, which for the magnitude of the effects
they accomplished, the brilliant succession of
exploits performed in them, and the daring gal-
lantry and intrepid resolution they exhibited,
have never perhaps been surpassed. In less than
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two years, three powerful princes, elated with a
long career of success, besides many minor chiefs,
the aggregate of whose forces was at least 400,000
men, with 500 guns; possessed of innumerable
strongholds, many of which were held to be
impregnable, were completely humbled, their
armies scattered, their guns captured, and their
fortresses stormed and taken. And this by a
force which, taking natives and Europeans toge-
ther, never exceeded in number a tenth part of
their adversaries. ~Nor were these successes
gained over feeble enemies, as the heavy lists
of killed and wounded will sufficiently testify ;
but neither their numbers nor their courage -
could avail against the steady discipline and regu-
lated valour of British soldiers. Honour, then, to
the brave and skilful men who led, and to the
gallant troops, native as well as English, who
under such guidance achieved such deeds! The
indomitable courage of British soldiers is too
well known to require panegyric; but those who
do not know the Indian sepoy should be made
aware how well he has vindicated his claim to
stand beside his European comrade, and how little
he will yield to him in the hour of need, in zeal,
in intrepidity, and self-devotion.
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CHAPTER XIIL

Shkinner’s account of Monson’s expedition and retreat— De-
struction of Lucan’s corps— Retreat through the Mookundra
Pass—Loss of guns— Destruction of Major Sinclasr and
kis battalion—Skinner punishes a mutiny and desertion
among his newly-raised corps—Holcar's cruelty to his
prisoners—Alarm and discouragement in the army— De-
tachment retreats from Muttra to Agra—A party of 1,500
sepoys of Monson’s march into Agra—Colonel Macan—
Holcar skirmishes—Army concentrates at Agra—Skinner's
horse sent on duty to the Doab—Army marches for Mutira
— Harassed by Holcar — Forage scarce — Brinjarrehs
brought in by Skinner—.Army marches to Dehlee— Relieves
Colonel Burn— Pursuit of Holcar—Surprise and beat him
at Futtehghur—Skinner sent in pursuit— Holcar recrosses
the Jumna—=Skinner’s corps increased— Thanked by Lord
Lake—Variously employed— Kamoona besieged.

CorLoNEL MONSON, says Skinner, was decoyed
by Holcar to his capital ; but he delayed attacking
the Colonel until the setting-in of the rains, a sea-
son as favourable to the operations of the Mah-
rattas as it was adverse to the British, for the



32 MEMOIRS OF COLONEL SKINNER.

country of Malwa is so deep in the rains that
wheel-carriages cannot move, a circumstance of
which I believe the Colonel was not aware. Holcar
also contrived to throw himself between Colonel
Murray and Monson, and kept manceuvring about
in hopes of an opportunity to strike some great
blow. So bad was the information of the lat-
ter, that he was unable to effect a junction with
Murray, who, thus unsupported and aware of the
effect of the rains in that quarter, commenced his
retreat to Baroda, without being able to apprise
Colonel Monson of his intention.

Holcar, finding that he had thus gained his
point, now turned upon Monson, and overtook
him near Bhampoorah. The Colonel, who by this
time had heard of the retreat of the Bombay de-
tachment, resolved to fall back with his own corps
by the Mookundra pass; but Holcar was too quick
for him. He marched from Bhampoorah, leaving
Lieutenant Lucan, who had command of all the
Hindostanee horse, amounting to about 5,000 men,
and some gallopers as a rear-guard; but -the
detachment had not gone ten miles, when Holcar’s
advanced guard made its appearance before Lucan.

Had Lucan retreated at once, he might have
saved himself; but he desired to make a name,
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and thought he might acquire it by making a
brilliant charge before commencing his retreat;
and so he might had his troops been stanch, but
they were not. Bappoo Sindea, who commanded
the greater portion, at the first movement went
over to Holcar, and the Baraitch horse (whose
master now enjoys a large jagheer), began to
retreat at once without orders, so that poor
Lucan was left with only his horse, amounting
to 1,500, and two brave chiefs (never named by
Government), Prithee Raj, a relative of the
Bullumghur Rajah, with 500 horse, and the She-
kiwat Rajah’s son with 500 Rajepoots; these
remained true to Luecan, and did honour to the
field.

Lucan, after checking the advance party, which,
by all accounts amounted to 5,000 horse, com-
menced his retreat, and continued in good order
for six miles, unassisted by Gardiner’s horse, who
never came up or were heard of. Then, finding
himself quite surrounded by Holcar’s troops, he
was forced to make a stand. In this situation he
was charged by Wahud Allee Khan with an
immense body of Bunjas, the best cavalry Holcar
had; but he and the two chieftains stood the
charge and repulsed the Bunjas with great slaugh-

VOL. IIL D
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ter, severely wounding Wahud Allee Khan. On
this they cleared away a little, and Lucan again
tried to retreat; but he was again charged from
all quarters, and completely routed. He himself
was wounded and made prisoner, and Prithee
Raj and the Shekawut Rajah’s son, with all
their followers, were cut to pieces. The Baraitch
Nawab was caught, wounded, and taken, and
most of the cowardly fellows that left Lucan, on
the enemy’s first appearance, were overtaken and
destroyed.

Monson had now gained the Mookundra pass,
but thought fit to leave it for want of supplies.
Had he continued in his position, he might have
defied all tne armies of Hindostan to drive him
from it. But in making his retreat from Moo-
kundra to Kotah, a distance of only sixteen cos,
it came on to rain violently, and Monson lost
almost all his guns, which were left sticking in
the mud, together with all the tents. On his
arrival at Kotah, Colonel Monson made appli-
cation to the Rajah for provisions, and also for
permission to leave two 12-pounder guns under
his care. But Zalim Sing refused, declaring that
he would neither furnish supplies nor take charge
of the guns, unless he (the Colonel) would remain
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and attack Holcar; for, said he, if you march
away, Holcar will take the guns, and punish me for
assisting you with provisions.

Colonel Monson then left the guns to their
fate, and commenced his march to Rampoorah,
a fort near Tonke, which was garrisoned by
British troops. This place he reached with great
difficulty, being overtaken by Holcar in his re-
treat at the Bunas river which had risen, and
could scarcely be crossed. At this place Major
Sinclair, who, with a battalion of the 2nd regiment
native infantry, wasleft as a rear-guard, was com-
pletely sacrificed. His conduct was noble, and
shewed the natives of the country what British
courage could do. He charged the enemy re-
peatedly, taking almost every gun that Holcar
could bring against him; but troops pouring in
upon him by thousands, and no assistance being
to be had from Monson, he at length fell a victim,
with all his party except one officer, in this zealous
discharge of his duty. This gallant act of the
sepoys, proving what they will do when properly
led, will long be remembered both by Mahrattas
and by Indians.

My corps having now been increased to 1,200
strong, and being joined by my brother who had

D 2
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left the Begum’s service, I was directed with all
haste to join Colonel S. Brown, who commanded
a large detachment of British troops at Muttra,
and who now was ordered to support Monson. I
reached Muttra without trouble, and my men
were apparently quite stanch to the service. 1
had commenced crossing the Jumna, and got over
six rissalahs under charge of my brother, when
the rumours and alarm occasioned by Colonel
Monson’s retreat, began to damp the spirits of
some of my men. Immediately on understanding
this, I gave orders that 300 more should cross
and join my brother. They saddled their horses
accordingly and went to the ghaut; but then,
believing themselves to be out of my sight, they
commenced their march towards Koorjah in the
Dooab. At this conjuncture I had with me 200 men,
100 being mounted on my own horses, the others
on horses of their own. On the first I placed the
greatest reliance; but I was somewhat doubtful
of the attachment of the others; and seeing the
rascally conduct of the 300, I was somewhat at
a loss what conduct to pursue. Whilst medi-
tating on the subject I saw my Bargheers saddle,
which increased my uneasiness, for I feared they
were going to follow the example of the 300; but
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from this apprehension my mind was soon relieved
by their coming up in a body and requesting
me to chastise the misconduct of the runaways,
who were, they said, disgracing the character of
the corps. To this I replied, that if they would
swear upon their Koran to be faithful to me and
to the service, I would then be proud to be their
leader, and to this they immediately agreed.
Lieutenant Boyd of the 15th Native Infantry,
who, with a company of sepoys, had crossed to
receive from me some treasure brought from
Dehlee, was witness to this proceeding; and as
soon as I was satisfied, I mounted my horse and
desired my Bargheers to follow me, leaving the
remainder in camp.

T overtook the runaways about a cos off, and
when within 100 yards of them I ordered my
yellow boys to halt, as I purposed to go forward
and reason with them. When I got within hear-
ing, the rissaldar, who was the leader of the
deluded men, came up to me with four of his
gowars. I tried to bring them to reason with mild
words; but perceiving that these had no effect,
I began to make use of abusive language and
threats. On this the cowardly leader of the muti-
neers ordered one of his men to fire at me, and
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before I could draw either sword or pistol the
man fired; but missing me, shot my horse dead
on the spot through the head. My yellow boys
seeing me fall, immediately gave a shout and
charged them sword in hand, and with such good-
will that about ninety of their number were cut
up, the rest fled to a fort in the neighbourhood
belonging to the Hatterass Rajah, who was not
on friendly terms with the British Government.
Of my party there were ten men killed, and seve-
ral wounded.

Next morning I crossed the remaining portion
of my party, and having joined Colonel Brown
reported the occurrence to him. During the ten
days we remained here, the detachment was much
disheartened and perplexed by the alarming ru-
mours and most painful objects coming in daily
from the disastrous retreat of Monson. Poor
Lucan had been tortured to death at Kotah, and
two officers, left at Englaisghur by Monson, were
beheaded by Hurnaut Sing, an adopted son of
Holcar’s; many others came into camp naked as
they were born, and numbers of sepoys with
their noses and ears cut off* The three com-

* It would be a great injustice to suppose that such
cruelties were common to all the Mahrattas,—such, in truth,
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panies left at Englaisghur entered Holcar’s ser-
vice, and many more, who had from time to time
deserted during the retreat, also joined him, go
that he had now about 1,000 of the British sepoys
in his service. Holcar tried another attack upon
Monson near Khoosalghur, but was repulsed by
the British sepoys. Of the deserters, a great
number got into the square and were bayoneted.
Holcar’s loss this day was severe.

Colonel Frith, who had been sent with his
corps of Hindostanee horse, joined at Rampoorah ;
but on the first march from that place his men
went over to the enemy. Colonel Gardiner also
left the detachment when at Khoosalghur, and
went off to Jeypore, where he had formerly been on
gervice. Our situation thus became alarming, and
the more so from the discouragement occasioned
by the incessant arrivals of the victims of Mon-
son’s misfortune. Desertions from Muttra were

is not their real character. These barbarities were the
effects of Holcar’s peculiar disposition, which was jealous
and revengeful in the extreme. His mutilations of the sepoys
appears to have been from their refusal to enter his service ;
a circumstance which not only tends greatly to the credit and
high character of those who endured it, but tends to lessen
the culpability of those who took the other alternative, and
did enter his service.
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numerous, and, in fact, the greatest confusion I
ever witnessed prevailed amengst the troops there.

The detachment consisted of five battalions of
sepoys, a regiment of regular cavalry, 900 of my
horse, and twenty pieces of cannon, with three
lakhs of Brinjarrahs, loaded with provisions suffi-
cient to last the detachment for several months.
However, a council of war was held to decide
whether the detachment was to fall back on Agra,
or to stand out at Muttra. The officers command-
ing corps, namely, Colonel Ball, Colonel Toone,
Major Hammond, Major Burrel, and Colonel
Brown, were summoned to head-quarters. I, also,
was honoured by a call, but did not vote. Colonels
Brown, Ball, and Toone, were for falling back
to Agra, Burrel and Hammond of the 2nd for
standing fast at Muttra.

Next evening, about sunset, the detachment
all of a sudden paraded, and in an hour after,
marched off to Agra, leaving tents and almost
everything behind. Being pitched at some dis-
tance, I knew nothing of all this, until my brother,
who was for piquet, proceeding with 200 men to
his post about an hour after they had gone, was
surprised to find no piquet party ; my men who
were on duty, fifty in number, having gone off to
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Bhurtpore, followed by the jemadar with his
party of regulars. On this he returned to me
with the information that the army had gone off.
I instantly saddled, and, striking my tents, formed
my men in two columns with the two 6-pounders.
About three hours after the detachment had left
us I commenced my march, and soon found out
the road they had taken, by the followers. Of
the enemy I saw nothing, and joined the main
body within two c6s of Gowghaut.

Desiring my brother to remain in rear of the
1st cavalry, I went up to the commanding officer
and told him all the circumstances, when he said
he would halt at Gowghaut. The best of the
business was, that Holcar was running off one
way, while we were going another ; and when we
arrived at Gowghaut the troops were so much
knocked up and straggling, that I do not believe
any regiment could number twenty men under
their colours. The officers had lost almost every-
thing they possessed ; and such was our fright and
confusion, that had the detachment met with 1,000
resolute men of the enemy, we should have made
a worse business of it than Monson’s. My hir-
carrahs brought me intelligence that Holcar, who
had encamped at Futtehpore Seekree, had fled
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that night towards Bhurtpore, believing that the
detachment was coming to surprise him; while
Colonel Burn’s hircarrahs, on the other hand,
brought him information that Holcar’s brigade
had arrived at Futtehpore—though they were not
within 100 cos of that place—and that he meant
to push on for Gowghaut to cut off our retreat.
It was this that made the Colonel push on towards
Agra in such a hurry, and such was his alarm
that he would not stop at Gowghaut, but pushed on
to Agra, where we took shelter under the fort,
and so greatly was the character of the British
troops degraded in the native eyes by this be-
haviour, that the very thieves pelted us all night
with stones.*

In this position we remained for three days,

* Nothing can be more striking, or more instructive, than
Skinner’s account of these disgraceful events: showing, as it
does, the naked truth, stripped of the conventional form of
official despatches ; illustrating, too, as it so forcibly does,
the demoralizing effect of even a small reverse ; and the im-
portance, in Indian warfare, of holding it & maxim at all
times rather to dare the worst, and die upon the ground, if
necessary, than retreat in face of an enemy. Retreat is
almost always more disastrous than defeat ; and the military
history of our Indian empire abounds in instances where

success has attended a resolute resistance even against over-
whelming numbers.
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witnessing the most horrible cruelties performed
by Holcar on Monson’s soldiers. The 1,000 men,
who had gone over to him in the retreat, had
begun to desert back to us from Futtehpore, and
Holcar, in order to make an example that should
deter the rest from following their example, cut
off the noses, ears, and right hands from 200 of
them. This act of cruelty was the saving of us,
for our sepoys, who had been deserting by hun-
dreds, seeing these poor mutilated wretches coming
in daily, ceased at once to leave their regiments.
At length, after all the surviving officers had come
in, I saw about 1,500 men march in to camp with
colours flying under command of a sergeant, with
a great number of soobahdars and jemadars of
native corps. These heroes had kept their ground
after all the officers had left them. The poor
sergeant was never noticed. This body of men
had made good their way, pursued by Holcar’s
cavalry, to within eight cds of Agra.

This was the termination of both retreats; for
Colonel Macan now arrived and took command
of this unfortunate detachment, which had run all
the way from Muttra to Agra without seeing an
enemy. Colonel Macan marched us to Secundra,
and brought the whole force into order: regular
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piquets were thrown out and rounds observed;
cavalry regiments poured in every day, and Lord
Lake, with the Europeans, was expected to arrive
from Cawnpore. Holcar took possession of Mut-
tra, assembled all his troops, and sent his brigade,
under command of Harnaut, to attack Dehlee.
The 2nd cavalry was reported by its commanding
officer “refused to cross.” Colonel Macan went
to the spot determined to shoot the first man who
should refuse. The regiment was ordered to
parade, and move to the ghaut. The Colonel
then ordered the first troop to cross, when not a
man refused, and it was found out that they had
never got orders to do so. Colonel Gordon was
immediately removed, and & new commander ap-
pointed. Had there been a few more Macans in
the service, many a disgraceful thing might have
been avoided.

Holcar’s horse now made their appearance,
and daily skirmishes regularly took place. Had
Colonel Macan possessed full powers, we should
soon have destroyed Holcar, who now was enjoy-
ing himself at Muttra, revelling in the lall skraub*
and brandy of the stores left there by the detach-
ment. He gave himself up to nautching and all

* Claret.
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sorts of voluptuousness, which, luckily for us, had
such an effect upon his health that he could not
move from his bed. At Muttra he remained a
month, issuing purwannahs and sending collectors
to the Doab, and bestowing purgunnahs in jagheer
to everybody who would join him. Among the
rest he sent a man named Allahmeer, with 100
horsemen to Major Wood, who commanded the
fort of Alleeghur, with a demand to deliver up the
fort to him immediately, or he would not spare a
man. The Major, although he had a battalion
and provisions for several months in the fort, was
so much alarmed at this threat, that he actually
promised to give up the fort in fifteen days, and
wrote off to Lord Lake, who by this time had
arrived at Mynpooree with all the European
troops, informing him of the treaty he thus had
made with Holcar’s soobah. I need not state his
lordship's answer—the world will easily judge of
its nature.

In the mean time, his lordship was approaching
ta Agra, where our army, increased by five regi-
ments of native cavalry, was in excellent order,
under Macan’s command. At the commencement
of Monson’s retreat, we had in our pay about
20,000 Hindostanee horse in different places and
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under various officers. Since then, of them all,
my corps was the only one which had remained
stanch, the rest had all gone over to the enemy.
Dehlee was now besieged by Holcar’s brigade,
while our army at Agra was looking out for Lake
as earnestly as the Mussulmans, after a month’s
fast, look out for the new moon of the Eede.
At length this new moon was seen on the 3rd
September 1804, arriving at the tomb of Eelimid-
u-dowlut, which he reached with three regiments
of dragoons, one of European foot, the famous
76th, and about fifteen or sixteen companies of
sepoys.

My corps was now ordered to cross the river
and join Lord Lake, which was done; and next
morning they were paraded, when his Excellency
inspected them, and praising them highly for their
fidelity, increased their pay ten rupees per horse ;
and promised that they should have bread for life.
He then ordered the European troops to cross,
and directed Major Worsely, with the fifteen
companies of sepoys to proceed to the Doab and
drive all Holcar’s collectors from thence, after
which he was to rejoin the army at Muttra. His
excellency then gave four galloper-guns to my
corps, and directed me to join Major Worsely.
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His lordship then joined the army, and com-
menced his march for Muttra on the 1st of Octo-
ber, attended by the whole of Holcar’s horse,
amounting, by the nearest calculation, to 40,000
men, who did their best to harass him on the
way. But Holcar soon discovered that he had
a very different person to deal with from Monson.
Lord Lake kept the Jumna on his right, his
baggage being between the river and the line,
and reached Muttra in four or five marches, skir-
mishing all the way: Holcar now evincing great
activity.

Major Worsely on his part took a round
by Shekaobad, Zelasur, Coel, and Mahabun to
Muttra: took several mud forts, hung up some
of the soobahs who fought; and after a sharp
and troublesome business, arrived in a few days
at Hauseagunge opposite to Muttra. An able,
steady, and active soldier, Major Worsely, re-
ceived well-deserved praise for his zealous services,
and was ordered to cross and take post in the
town of Muttra with six companies of sepoys.
The remaining part of his force with my horse
were directed to stand fast at Hauseagunge,
under the command of Major Munro; and as
the Jumna was not fordable at this point, a
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bridge of boats was ordered to be made ready
from the Hauseagunge ghaut to the town. Lord
Lake had encamped on the west bank of the
river in the old Mahratta cantonments; and
Colonel Down with the reserve, consisting of
the remains of Monson’s detachment, amounting
to about 2,000 sepoys, was pitched between the
army and the town. '

All this time, Holcar was actively engaged in
cutting up small detachments coming with supplies
from Agra; so that in a few days provisions and
forage failed, and large bodies were forced to go
out for forage daily. Day and night was the
camp surrounded with Holcar’s horse, which were
no sooner attacked than they dispersed. Several
mornings this was attempted with all the cavalry
and infantry ; but the moment they saw us they
vanished, and no sooner had we returned to camp
and unsaddled, than there they were again sur-
rounding the camp, and quietly dismounting; not
less than from 10,000 to 20,000 of these horse
were thus constantly hovering about the camp,
and such became the scarcity, that three seers of
atta,* were selling for a rupee.

My corps was directed to work hard in the

* Coarse flour, the common food of the sepoys.
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Doib to remedy this scarcity, and get grain
wherever it was to be found. I used to go out
in the morning, plunder the villages, and send in
whatever I could lay hold of; but it seldom
exceeded the day’s consumption, and the minds
of the soldiers became so unsettled, and desertions
80 common again, that the troopers upon duty
were found galloping over to the enemy from
their posts: and in order to prevent such shame-
ful desertions, Lord Lake was forced to place
a sepoy with each trooper vidette, with orders
to shoot the trooper if he should move towards
the enemy. This state of anxiety and hardship
continued for six days, and to add to it, alarming
accounts arrived from Dehlee ; the Resident en-
treating Lord Lake to come to his assistance with
all despatch.

This his lordship was well disposed to do; but
the army was just then waiting for the Brinjarrahs
that were on their way from Cawnpore. They
came unmolested until within two cos of Hattrass,
when the Rajah stopped them, and said he would
not permit them to go to Lord Lake ; but would
take the supplies himself. The Brinjarrahs at first
refused ; but at length being bribed they pro-
mised to give up the grain. When this infopr-
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mation reached Lord Lake, he sent for me and
asked whether I thought I could bring them
away. I replied, that if his lordship would leave
it to me, I would either bring off the supplies
or lose my life in the attempt; on this, he shook
me by the hand, and declared he never would
forget my services.

I took my leave; and returning to camp col-
lected all my hircarrahs, and as the Brinjarrahs
were only eighteen c6s distant, I laid a dak of
hircarrahs, just to let me know when they should
begin loading to go into the fort. The second
day about midnight, information was brought me ;
and I immediately saddled and set off with all
my horse, 1,200 in number. On reaching within
a cbs of them, I halted until my spies gave me
information that they were all ready, and would
move, if I did not prevent them. I left my
brother with 800 men, and with 400 I dashed in
amongst them, crying out that Lord Lake had
sent me to their assistance. At first, they began
throwing down their loads, declaring they would
not go with me; but I ordered all who should
attempt throwing their loads to be put to death;
and several were accordingly killed. 'When they
saw this, and found me determined, and perceiv-
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ing my brother coming up with the large body,
they gave in and called out, “ Dohee, Lord Lake,
kee;” s0 I ordered them to march towards Mut-
tra, which they did.

By the time the sun had risen, I had got a cds
off clear with my prize. But when the news
reached the Rajah, he ordered all his horse to
saddle and pursue me. I still pushed on; but
when I had made two more cbs, I ordered my
brother with 600 men to go on with the convoy,
and if any of the fellows should attempt throwing
down their loads, to put them at once to death.
I halted myself with the other 600 to show front
to the Rajah, and in two hours afterwards I per-
ceived his sowarree coming on. I now formed my
party into two gholes, and made them a speech,
telling them that I had promised Lord Lake
either to bring in the Brinjarrahs or die. They
were all stanch, and declared in reply they were
ready to die with me. My brother had gained
some four or five c6s when the Rajah came up
to me with, I think, about 1,200 men. I formed
and showed front, when he sent a man to me to
inquire who I was, and by whose authority I had
taken the Brinjarrahs ?

I gave my name accordingly, and said that I

E 2
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had Lord Lake’s kookum, which was the best in
Hindostan. He sent in reply to order that I
should immediately give up the Brinjarrahs, or
he would instantly punish me. T replied that the
Brinjarrahs and my head should go together, and
that he had full liberty to do as he liked. He
then sent on a few skirmishers in front, who fired
at us; but some of my yellow boys soon sent
their horses back without their riders. When the
Rajah saw I was determined, and was not to be
frightened, he asked me if I would take his vakeel
to Lord Lake. To this, I replied that I would
not take him now, lest the people might think
that I had gained the Brinjarrahs by some false
promise ; but that if he would send him after, I
would be his friend, and try to obtain his forgive-
ness. To this he agreed, and then marched back
towards his fort.

For my part, I thanked the Almighty for my
success, and joining my brother, arrived in the
evening at Hauseagunge. The first person I saw
was Major Worsely, who shook me warmly by the
hand, and said that Lord Lake ought never to for-
get that day’s work. I crossed and went to Lord
Lake, who was at dinner; but hearing that I had
arrived, immediately came out and asked me,
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“ Well, have you succeeded?” ¢ Yes, my lord,”
was my reply, on which he also shook me by the
hand, and declared he never would forget me or
my corps. He then asked me to come in to dinner ;
but I told him that having been eighteen hours on
horseback, I was pretty well knocked up; but
that T should wait on his lordship in the morning.

I returned to my tent accordingly, and ordered
for all my sowars a seer of sweetmeats each,
which, through Major Worsely’s assistance, I got
from the town, and then ate my dinner. Next
morning, I called on his lordship and reported the
Brinjarrahs at 60,000 bullocks all loaded with
atta. On this, he again shook me by the hand,
and taking the sword he wore at his own waist,
presented it to me with 20,000 rupees. The Brin-
jarrah jemadars were also all handsomely rewarded
and ordered immediately to cross. These Brin-
jarrahs gave just seven days’ supply to the army,
which enabled it to march, on the 12th of October,
to the relief of Dehlee, leaving Colonel Worsely
with his force to guard the town of Muttra.
Colonel Munro and my corps were detached
towards Anoopsheher in order to meet and escort
into camp a large convoy consisting of a lakh of
Brinjarrah bullocks loaded with atta, wheat, and
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koonjah ; and having met them, we accordingly
proceeded with them to Dehlee, which place Lord
Lake reached in eight or ten marches, much
harassed all the way by Holcar’s horse.

Four days previous to Lord Lake’s arrival,
Hurnaut had raised the siege of Dehlee, and re-
treated towards Deeg, through the Alwar pass,
and then continued on towards Paneeput. His
lordship could not follow for want of supplies, till
our arrival, on the 27th of October, with the
Brinjarrahs. Lord Lake then detached General
Fraser in pursuit of Holcar’s infantry, with all
the infantry except the reserve under Colonel
Down, which was ordered to cross the river. On
the 29th, information was brought that Holcar
had himself crossed at Koongepoorah to attack
Colonel Burn’s detachment, which had left Dehlee
a few days previous to his lordship’s arrival. This
detachment consisted of one battalion of the 14th
N.IL and three irregular battalions under Captain
Harriott, formerly of the Mahratta service, and was
proceeding to Seharunpore. On this the reserve
was ordered to march towards Bhaugput, and my
corps to go along with it, and on the 31st, Lord
Lake, with all the cavalry, joined us, having
crossed the Jumna at Bhaugput. By this time
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Holcar had surrounded Burn’s detachment in a
small fort at Shamlee, after taking their baggage
and bazaar; so that, no grain being to be had, they
were living on sheep and bullocks.

Lord Lake reached Shamlee in two marches,
and next morning Holcar showed a fine bold front,
which rejoiced his lordship, as he now believed his
enemy intended to stand. He formed the cavalry
in one line, and gave particular orders that no
gallopers were to be opened on the enemy, but
that the attack was to be made sword in hand.
Whilst we were forming, however, a body of
Holcar’s horse made a false attack upon our right,
on which the gallopers were instantly fired; and
proved just the signal for Holcar to disperse, and
so effectually was this done, that in less than
an hour the whole of that immense body was
out of sight. We trotted after them for about
four miles; but it was all to no purpose—we had
to return without effecting anything, and his
lordship was so enraged at the disappointment,
that he swore he would deprive these regiments of
their galloper guns.

‘We encamped near the town, which was given
up to plunder,* and Colonel Burn received high

* The inhabitants of Shamlee deserved this well; for,
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praise for his gallant defence of the position. After
a day’s halt, we commenced our march to Meerut,
which was the road taken by Holcar; but when
near Katowlee, we heard that he was still at
that place, endeavouring to persuade the Begum
Sumroo to join him, which she was not disin-
clined to do. On this Lord Lake turned his
course towards Katowlee, and when six cos dis-
tant, he sent me off with my yellow troop to
discover if he were there still. I had not gone
two c6s when I met 500 of his sowars, who were
coming for information respecting our movements ;
and who immediately sent off express camels to
tell that the British army was in full march for
Katowlee. These fellows showing an inclination
to attack me, and ontnumbering my small party
of eighty men so much, I thought it right to re-
tire, which I did slowly and deliberately, sending
off to Lord Lake a confirmation of the report he
had received of Holcar being still at the place.
Meantime, the 500 sowars charged me, but in-

though pretending to take part with the British, they
allowed the enemy, in disguise, to come into the town, from
whence they fired upon our sepoys in the fort, and killed
many. They refused, too, to sell the Hindoo sepoys any
food, by which they were nearly starved of hunger.
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effectually, and having repulsed them I threw
myself into a deserted village to defend myself
until the army should come up. No sooner did
they see Lord Lake’s dust than they began to
retire to their camp, on which I followed them for
a c0s, charging them twice, and capturing a stand
of colours and about 100 horses. Just as I made
my last charge, Holcar’s army was seen about a
cOs distant, and the 8th dragoons came up, with
Lord Lake, to my assistance. Holcar’s army
having halted, and showing a disposition to attack
us, we also halted to let the rest of the line come
up. But a few rounds from the gallopers sent
them to the right-about, and they dispersed as
they had done at Shamlee. In this service I had
about seven men killed and ten wounded, and my
own horse received a cut on the head. Lord Lake
praised the men very much, and made me a present
of a pair of pistols. '

We followed Holcar up to Meerut, but nothing
of consequence occurred. There we left Colonel
Burn’s detachment, along with Murray’s horse ;
and with the reserve alone we followed Holcar,
at the rate of twelve or sixteen cbs a day, until we
reached Alleegunge. On the 16th November,
Lord Lake, resolved to overtake Holcar and save
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Futtehghur, marched in the evening, leaving my
corps, under Colonel Down, with the reserve, to
bring up the baggage, and surprised that chief on
the morning of the 17th. The execution done
that day is well known to the world.* On the
morning of the 19th, I arrived with the reserve,
and the same evening his lordship sent for me and
said he wished much that I would try to discover
what route Holcar had taken, and asked, if I
thought my corps would undertake the job? I
replied, that my corps would obey any orders
which his lordship might give; on which he shook
me by the hand, and said, * Give me good infor-
mation, and I shall soon be up with you.”

I accordingly returned straight to .camp, and
leaving all my baggage, galled horses, and gal-
lopers, with my brother (who was dangerously
ill), under the care of Major Burrows, who
commanded the horse-artillery, I started from
Futtehghur at two A.M. on the morning of the
20th, with about 600 sowars, and reached Myn-
pooree that evening. Holcar, believing that the
whole army was upon him, took to flight, while I,
sending regular daily information to his lordship,
pressed onwards, and saved Mr. Cunningham’s

* It has been already taken notice of.
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house from being burned, as also that of Captain
‘White, which Holcar was preparing to storm ; the
Sebundees, who were left under that officer to
guard them, being in a great fright; and happy
were both officers and civilians to see me that
day, declaring, that had I not arrived as I did, they
were afraid their own troops would have gone
over to Holcar.

On the 21st I started again, and came up with
Holcar at Aitah, where I took prisoners about
100 of his sowars. With these I practised a
stratagem, which sent Holcar away faster than he
bargained for. Telling them that my corps con-
sidered them as brethren, I gave them their liberty ;
but advised them to take care not to fall into the
hands of the dragoons, who were but a few hours
behind, and bade them give my salaam to Holcar.
Thankful for their release, they went and gave
my message to Holcar, adding, that they had seen
Lord Lake and his dragoons. This made him fly
faster than ever; but I kept hanging on his rear,
marching at the rate of twenty to twenty-five
cos a day, until he crossed the Jumna at Maha-
bun, near Muttra; then I returned to Row-ka-
Secundra, near Hattrass, where I halted.

In this hard seven day’s work I had no pro-
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vision but what the fields afforded, and neither
tents nor bazaar with us. The horses were never
unsaddled, and we rested with the bagdoor (halter,
or leading rein) in our hands all night, having
frequently to change our ground two or three
times during each night, to avoid a surprise from
Holcar. In this pursuit I acquired great plunder
in horses and camels. We lived on the green
jowar that was standing in the fields, which we
prepared by husking it out and putting it into
large pots, adding ghee and meat, and boiling the
whole together. It was then served out in earthen
pots, my share being always brought me by the
men, who showed me great love and attention,
and were willing to act as my private servants,
and tried in every way to please and add to my
comfort; but I felt the want of my dram.

Four days after I came here, Lord Lake arrived,
and the corps paraded to receive him. He came
up and praised them highly, promised that their
services should never be forgotten, and that they
had, by their exertions, secured permanent bread
for their lives. On me also he bestowed high
commendations, giving me a horse with silver
trappings, which had been sent him by some
Rajah, and told me to go back to Alleegurh and
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rest for a month, and recruit my corps to 1,700
strong, for that he should soon require my services
again. His lordship with the army went to Mut-
tra, and crossing proceeded to Deeg; while 1
reached Coel in two marches, and commenced
recruiting, in which I was very successful ; for
most of the great powers being now nearly
crushed, I was joined by a great number of my
old comrades from Perron’s service, who had re-
turned to their homes in the Doab.

I bad not been here a month out, when an
express came from Colonel Boe, who had been
repulsed at a small fort near Alleegunge. I has-
tened to join him; and on my arrival, the garri-
son attempted to make their escape by night;
but they were pursued and cut up almost to a
man. This service was performed on a dark
night, and several of my men were killed and
wounded. We then marched to attack a large
mud fort named Imlanee, sixteen cdés east of
Alleegunge, belonging to a refractory jemadar,
named Nahur Allee. We besieged it for a
month, and were twice beaten back in attempts
to storm it. But at length, two mines being
carried under the glacis, the garrison tried to
make their escape : they were pursued by my



62 MEMOIRS OF COLONEL SKINNER.

brother, who killed 300 of them; the rest, with
Nahur Allee, succeeded in making good their
flight. My brother had his horse killed under
him.

On the 23rd December, Lord Lake stormed
and took Deeg, and then marched to invest
Bhurtpore. Having returned to the army, I
was ordered by Major Worsely to escort a large
convoy of a lakh of bullocks loaded with atta
and wheat from Anoopsheher. Thither I went,
and receiving charge of the Brinjarrahs passed
within two c6s of Kamoona, a place held in great
dread in the Doab. Keeping 400 of my horse
in a body, I dispersed the rest among the bul-
locks, when, all of a sudden, out darted Doondiah
Khan with 600 sowars. I attacked him with my
400, and chased him back to the ditch of his fort,
with the loss of 200 of his men killed; and deli-
vered over the convoy safe at Muttra, which
gained me many commendations from his Excel-
lency, as well as Major Worsely.

I had returned to Alleeghur, when Colonel
Gruiber, with his battalion, was attacked by the
same Doondiah Khan, and obliged to fall back on
Anoopsheher, where he was joined by some pro-
vincial battalions, under command of Captain
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Cruttenden. I again received orders from Major
‘Worsely to join Colonel Gruiber, and did accord-
ingly join him within two c6s of Kamoona. Pro-
ceeding thence to Alleeghur, I was ordered to
receive and escort 30,000 Brinjarrahs loaded with
atta to the grand army, which convoy I delivered
just after the first storm of Bhurtpore had failed.
I met with no molestation from Muttra till within
a cos of Bhurtpore, when Bappojee Sindeah was
sent out to attack me. He came up with 1,000
horse ; but Lord Lake having sent out a detach-
ment to my aid, Bappoo, on seeing them, re-
treated.

Next morning, I marched for Muttra, and from
thence again proceeded to Coel to join Colonel
Gruiber, who was ordered to attack Kamoona.
I came up with him at Chuttooree, a village
about a c6s from Kamoona, and marched next
morning with the detachment to the bank of the
Kalee Muddee, on the east of Kamoona, where
we encamped. We besieged the place for a
month, during which time my corps was hard
worked, and many acts of gallantry were per-
formed by the men in presence of the whole
detachment. My brother himself had two horses
killed under him.
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CHAPTER XIIL

Ameer Khan— His birth and early history— Combines forces
with Holcar— Terms of agreement— His army and military
system— Character—Crosses the Jumna on a predatory
ezxpedilion — General Smith sent in pursust — Siege of
Kamoona raised—Mr. Leicester and the Europeans at
Bareilly surrounded by Ameer Khan— Relieved by Skin-
ner's arrival—Pursuit of the Meer—Skinner visits his
camp in disguise— Attack on his army near Ufzoolghur—
Retires with loss towards Mooradabad — The younger
Skinner surrounded— His gallant defence— Relieved by a
stratagem of his brother's—Captain Murray attacked by
Meer Khan—Driven off by Colonel Burn—He retreats
across the Jumna— Failure at Bhurtpore — Kamoona
capitulates—Services of Skinner’s corps—Acknowledged
by Lord Lake—Ezpedition against the Sikhs—Holcar
appears tn the Punjaub— Pursued by Lord Lake— Skinner
volunteers to cross the Sutlej—The army crosses—He is
sent in advance to track Holcar— Reaches the Beyah, cr
Hyphasis—Negotiations with Holcar—Review of troops—
Effect on the Sikhs— Return to Kurnaul— Partial reduc-
tion of Skinner’s corps— The army broken up.

THE next portion of the memoir relates in great
part to the well-known * foray” of the celebrated
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freebooter, Ameer Khan, into Rohilcund, his native
place, having crossed the whole Doab and its two
great streams, at the head of his followers, in the
usual Pindarree fashion, with nothing but his
horse and his arms. And it is now time to give
some account of the origin and rise of this remark-
able predatory chief.

. Mahomed Ameer Khan was the son of Illyat
Khan, a Patan of the Tereen tribe, originally
from Affghanistan; and who lived at a village
near Sumbhul in the Zillah of Mooradabad, named
Seraee-Tereen—the abode of the Tereens. When
about twenty years of age he left his home for the
Dekhan, then the great theatre for soldiers of
fortune, with ten followers; and entered into
several services, in which he so far prospered as
to increase his followers to six horsemen and sixty
foot. But his first engagement of consequence
was with Jeysing Keechee of Ragooghur, who,
with his relative, Dourjun Lal, had been ousted
from their territories by Sindea, and who now
maintained themselves by pillaging the same lands
they had once possessed. But a quarrel with a
favourite of the latter chief, terminating in a
squabble in which Ameer Khan was severely
wounded, led to his quitting that service, in which
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he had much distinguished himself, and been pre-
sented by the Rajah with a palankin and the
command of 500 men. He then entered into that
of Balaram, a predatory leader of Sindea’s, at that
time subsisting in Bhopal on pillage, and after-
wards called in to aid one of the parties who were
struggling for power in that state. By him he
was promoted to the charge of 1,500 horse and
of the strong fortress of Futtehghur, the citadel of
Bhopal.

The course of intrigue soon occasioned the de-
parture of the Mahrattas from Bhopal ; but Ameer
Khan retained possession of Futtighur, and only
gave it up to one of the disputing parties on being
taken into the service. But his own intriguing
spirit rendered him too dangerous a character to
be long retained. After six months he left it, or
was dismissed, and it was at this period that the
attention of Jesswunt Rao Holcar, who was then
just rising into something of importance, became
directed to the Patan leader. The first meeting
between these celebrated freebooters took place
at Ranagunge, near Shujahalpore, and they soon
came to terms. Ameer Khan entered into en-
gagements never to desert the fortunes of Jess-
wunt Rao; and received a written promise from



JOINS JESSWUNT RAO HOLCAR. 67

that chief that all future plunder or conquest
should be shared equally between them. With
men of such characters and equally desperate
fortunes, it is probable that an agreement, thus
entered into from mutual convenience, would
scarcely have been held binding any longer than
the interests of either party might seem to dic-
tate; and yet certainly Ameer Khan did continue
his fidelity to Holcar long after the latter had
attained to sovereign power—a fact to be ac-
counted for probably from the strong influence
of Holcar’s more energetic character, and the tact
which he always exhibited in distinguishing the
Patan from his other leaders, even after the
relations of prince and dependant were clearly
established between them.* Ameer Khan re-
mained sole commander of his own army, and
entertained or dismissed whom he would.
“But,” says Sir John Malcolm,+ “his condition .
was little to be envied. His followers, who were
always more numerous than he had the means of
paying, were in a state of constant mutiny ; and
for more than half of every year, their chief was

* He always called the Meer “brother,” and affected to
regard him as of equal rank with himself.
t “Central India,” vol. i. p. 327-28
F 2
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under restraint. The consequence was, that his
conduct was always more regulated by the
clamours of this turbulent rabble, and the neces-
gity of providing for their support, than by any
regular system of policy. The excesses of Ameer
Khan’s Patans at Saugur have been noticed ; but
these were far surpassed at Poonah, where he was
seized by a party of them, and not only beat and
bruised, but almost strangled with his own turban,
which they fastened round his neck. Though
Jesswunt Rao repressed and punished this act of
violence, he, too, on many occasions was com-
pelled to soothe and humour the turbulent spirits
of the freebooters. . . . . It wasthe con-
stant object of Jesswunt Rao to employ them at
a distance, and he appears to have considered
them more as a body of plunderers, whose general
movements he could direct through his connection
with their leader, than as an integral portion of
his army, whose services he could at all times
command. They, on the other hand, were sen-
sible of the advantages they derived from acting
in the name of one of the recognised Indian
governments; and the main influence by which
Ameer Khan retained his precarious rank as
their chief, was his forming the link that at-
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tached this band of depredators to the house of
Holcar.”

Meer Khan's expedition into Rohilcund ap-
pears to have partly originated in the mutual
disputes and taunts of the confederates, in con-
sequence of their ill-success in their war with the
English ; and the Meer, perhaps, imagined that
he should not only succeed better in his open
system of depredation, but increase his power and
forces in his own country, which was filled with
desperate characters, Born a Patan, he naturally
leant to prefer his countrymen, although, latterly,
the great preponderance of them in his army may
have tended not only to curb his own authority,
but to perpetuate the mischief they occasioned.
It is obvious that he was deficient in that first
qualification in a captain of banditti, the power to
overawe and command his men. He was, in fact,
not so much their chief as their slave—only tole-
rated as the head to contrive their expeditions,
the pilot to lead them to their prey. He was
even regarded as deficient in personal courage,
and more of a blusterer than a doer. The mark-
ing features of his character appear to have been,
a strong turn for intrigue, indefatigable cunning,
insatiable avarice, and remorseless, unscrupulous
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cruelty. He wanted the reckless boldness in
crime, the audacious defiance of all principle,
exhibited by Holcar, and he was far from being
possessed of that prince’s undaunted courage. He
had more of the tiger than the lion—perhaps, more
of the serpent than of either ; and while the sweep-
ing devastation of the Mahratta prince seems to
have been regarded as an act of destiny,—a visi-
tation of Providence, apart from its author,—the
atrocities of the Patan are held in detestation
over all Hindostan, as spontaneous works of a
cruel and evil-hearted ruffian.

Nor were the manners of the Meer more at-
tractive than his character. He is represented, by
those who have seen and known him, as clownish
and rude in appearance and address; mean in per-
son; of dark Hindoo-like complexion ; poorly and
dirtily dressed, and his language low and coarse.
The result of his visit to his country seems in no
respect to have answered his expectations. He
came over the Ganges with 30,000 followers, and a
name which, as aleader, carried terror at least with
it, and might have been attractive to soldiers of
fortune like himself. He re-crossed that river
and the Doab, baffled, beaten, disgraced, his
troops reduced to a third of their number, and
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his name sunk into a word of derision and con-
tempt.

At this juncture, says Skinner, and on the 3rd
of February, Ameer Khan crossed the Jumna;
on which Major Worsely sent an express to Colonel
Griiber, who, on receiving it, raised the siege of
Kamoona, and retired under Alleeghur. On the
the 9th, General Smith, with three regiments of
dragoons, three of native cavalry, and a detach-
ment of horse-artillery, sent by Lord Lake, came
to our assistance. About twelve at night we
marched, and, my corps being sent in advance,
we reached Meer Khan’s encampment before
Kamoona at daybreak, and found he had taken
himself off two hours before our arrival.

We came up, however, with an alleegole* of
about 300 Rohillas, belonging to Doondiah Khan,
whom we attacked and cut up, following them to
the brink of the ditch. About seven in the morn-
ing General Smith came up, and gave my men
high commendation for their conduct.

Next morning, while marching a couple of cds

* Alleegoles were a sort of chosen light infantry of the
Rohilla Patans: sometimes the term appears to be applied
to other troops, supposed to be used generally for desperate
service.
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in two lines, the cavalry being on our right,
Colonel Griiber was insulted by a small fort,
called Annoona, belonging to Doondiah Khan,
which he stormed and took, with the loss of one
European officer killed, and twenty sepoys killed
and wounded. On the 13th, the Colonel’s de-
tachment was ordered to proceed by Anopsheher,
while the cavalry pushed on after Ameer Khan,
who crossed the Ganges at Ahmednaghur on the
15th, and went straight for Mooradabad. We
followed on his track, and on the 17th reached
Amronah.

At noon the same day, I was sent off with
1,000 horse, to relieve Mr. Leicester,* who, with
all the party at Bareilly, was surrounded in the
gaol of that place. General Smith himself fol-
lowed us. I reached the place a little before
dawn of the 18th, and found that Meer Khan had
just left it. We followed him as far as the Ram-
gunga, and, overtaking his rear-guard, cut up
300 of his sowars; after which we returned
to Mr. Leicester’s house. An hour after sunrise
General Smith, with the cavalry, reached the
place.

Our arrival at the time we did was the most

* Chief of the civil service at Bareilly.

.'""'"\



PURSUIT OF AMEER KHAN. 73

fortunate thing possible, for the sebundees* who
were on duty would have given up the Euro-
peans and treasure; and it is impossible to de-
scribe the joy with which we were hailed by
the whole party, which had been surrounded by
the Meer in this fortified place. Next morning we
marched in pursuit; but Meer Khan had led us
such a dance, that, for several days, we were
all in the dark as to whither he had gone, and
we kept marching backwards and forwards until
we reached Shereghurrie, when I fell in with,
and made prisoners of, some Pindarrees, from
whom I made out the proper direction. As soon
as this was done, I went secretly to General
Smith, and volunteered to go disguised into the
Meer’s camp, and learn what he was about. To
this, after a good deal of hesitation, General
Smith agreed; and, accordingly, putting on a
native’s dress, I took ten of my most confidential
sowars, and, giving out to my corps that I was
going upon urgent business to Mooradabad, I
went straight to Sherekote, where I met with
Meer Khan’s foragers, and with them went into
their camp.

My ten sowars had brethren in Shahmut Khan’s

* Hired irregular troops.
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gole, and with it we remained all night. Early
in the morning Meer Khan, who was pitched on
the banks of the Ramgunga river, near Ufzul-
ghur, wanted to march; but the Mahratta Pin-
darrees, who had all been insulted the day before
by the Patans, insisted on the Meer giving up
the offenders. This was refused by the Patans,
upon which both parties drew up to fight. All
this information was sent off by me to General -
Smith, by hircarrahs ; and when I saw that the
fellows were not likely to settle their disputes
that day, I thought it would be an excellent
thing if I could bring the troops upon them. A
foraging party belonging to Shahmut Khan, being
just about to go out, I took the opportunity of
quitting camp with it, especially as Meer Khan
by this time had settled the dispute, and was pro-
posing to march next morning.

I had not gone two cbs, when I met one of
my own spies, who informed me that the army
was just going to encamp at Sherekote. On this
I galloped off, and met General Smith, to whom
I gave all this information, and begged that the
troops might push on, as he might never again
meet with so good an opportunity. The General
thanked me for my exertions, and pushed on to
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Sherekote, where he left the baggage under pro-
tection of the 3rd regiment of Native Cavalry,
400 sowars, and about 700 nujeebs of mine. In
the mean time I changed my horse and dress, and
then showed them the road.

We came up with the enemy about two P. M. ;
but Meer Khan had got intelligence of our ap-
proach, and, having sent his baggage on to Ufzul-
ghur, was standing his ground with all his horse,
and a small body of 300 alleegoles, which he had
entertained at Rampore. As our line came up, there
was a nullah just in our front, the ford of which I
was directed to point out to the horse-artillery.
I accordingly accompanied Captain Stark on this
service, showing him the ford, where the troops
crossed and formed in two lines, keeping the river
on our right flank.

Meer Khan now broke up into three goles; one,
being commanded by himself, advanced to our left ;
one, commanded by his brother* Shahmut Khan,
took its way to our right; while the third and
smaller one, with the unfortunate 300 alleegoles,
remained in our front. These fellows opened their

* The wording in the original is of doubtful meaning ;
but, at all events, there is reason for believing that Shahmut
Khan was not a brother of the Meer's.



76 MEMOIRS OF COLONEL SKINNER.

matchlocks upon us; but a few rounds from the
horse-artillery forced them to advance to the
shelter of a hollow that was in our front. The
27th Dragoons dashed forward to cut them up;
but the fellows, who must have been mad, rushed
sword in hand, with their flags, upon the dragoons,
penetrated their ranks, and caused some confusion
in the regiment. Major Dean, however, charged
them with a squadron of the 8th, and cut them to
Ppieces.

Shahmut Khan then charged the right; but
was repulsed with great loss by the gallopers and
the 29th Dragoons. Meer Khan in person charged
my corps on the left with a large gole. My men
behaved most gallantly, giving fire with their
matchlocks at the word of command; and then
drawing swords, they charged and repulsed them
with great slaughter; we killed two of their
girdars, took one prisoner, with ten stand of
colours, among which were two golden ones,
carried by ackas, and 200 horses. My brother
Robert’s conduct this day surpassed all I had ever
seen him perform before. One of my gallopers
on the left having got rather far away from the
corps, and unlimbered about 100 yards from my
flank, an acka* of Meer Khan’s, with about forty

* Probably from the Turkish word Aga—leader, master.
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sowars, charged and took it. My brother (Lieut.
Skinner) observing this, immediately charged
them with twenty choice men, retook the gal-
loper, and cut down the acka with his own hand.

The Meer now retired out of cannon reach,
and formed into one mass before us; but it being
now four P.M., General Smith thought it proper
to retreat to his baggage. Meer Khan, on the
other hand, had been so sickened with the gal-
lopers that he would venture on nothing; but
retreated to Ufzulghur. He certainly gave us
fine opportunities for a charge this day ; but it was
thought that their goles were too large, and were
only kept off by our gallopers. My loss was five
men killed and thirty wounded ; the General gave
great praise to our corps, and reported our exer-
tions to Lord Lake, who gave orders to the resi-
dent at Dehlee to present me with a fine Persian
sword.

‘We marched in pursuit of Ameer Khan towards
Mooradabad, which direction he had taken from
Ufzulghur; and arriving at six in the evening,
we deposited there all our sick and wounded.
My brother was ordered with 500 sowars to
Anopsheher, while we marched towards Chaun-
dousee. On arriving there we found that Meer
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Khan had been beforehand with us, having burned
the cantonments, and laid the town under contri-
bution; after which he took his way in the direc-
tion of Bareilly. On the 8th, we made a forced
march, and took up our position on the bank of
the Ramgunga, where the river was fordable, in
order to prevent his crossing; and scarcely had
we pitched, when the dreadful intelligence was
brought me that my brother was surrounded by
Ameer Khan in a ruinous serai in Sumbul, into
which he had thrown himself on hearing of the
Meer’s approach.

From the account given me by the messenger,
it appeared that when the party were thus hem-
med in, Ameer Khan had written to the rissaldars,
desiring them to give my brother up, and that he
would give each of them three months’ pay as a
reward. This they refused contemptuously, upon
which the Meer advanced with 10,000 men dis-
mounted, towards the serai, and sent the same mes-
sage again, to which he received the same reply.

My brother now, in order to test the men’s
fidelity, addressed them and told them, that if, by
giving up his single life, they could save 500, he
was quite willing to give himself up, and go as a
prisoner to Ameer Khan. To this they replied,
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that when they were all destroyed he might go,
but not as long as they lived. That they did not
mind numbers—hundreds, they said, were daily
destroyed at Bhurtpore; they also were soldiers
hired to die, therefore let them die like soldiers.
My brother then wrote to Ameer Khan, de-
claring that he had always believed him to be a
brave soldier, but that his conduct this day, in
attempting to seduce and delude the soldiers
under his command, whose courage and fidelity
he should soon have experience of, had proved
him to be a coward, that he despised him and
dared him to come on. As soon as the messenger
was despatched, and he saw the Meer’s people
moving, he told his men to kneel down and offer
their last prayers to God to grant them courage,
and to die like brave men. The storm now took
place on all sides, but it was nobly repulsed by
my men. Many of the enemy got up upon the
walls, and were cut down from them in trying to
get over. Three times did they assault, and each
time they were repulsed with great slaughter.
When it got dark the spy left my brother,
having spent all his ammunition except a few
rounds. During the night, he took the shoes
from off his horse’s feet, and cut them into slugs,
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of which he distributed five to each man, which,
with five bullets remaining to each, was all he had
to repel the multitude around him. But the men
remained stanch and firm to him, and he besought
me to come to his aid without delay.

I went instantly to General Smith, crying and
entreating him to march, or to allow me to go to
my brother’s assistance, that I would cut my way
through Meer Khan’s troops, and get into the serai,
which was only twenty cos off, in time to save
him. But, as it was three P. M. before the letter
reached me, General Smith declared that it was
useless; that the Meer must either have destroyed
the party or gone off from the place, as Colonel
Burn was in that quarter. As for him, he could
not, he said, leave the ford. This hope failing
me, I was utterly at a loss how to act, when the
following stratagem occurred to me, and I in-
stantly put it in practice. I wrote a letter to my
brother, saying I had just received his, and had
shewn it to the General, who was about to march
with his whole force in an hour or two; in the
mean time, he must keep the Meer in play by
proposing terms of surrender. One of my hir-
carrahs, who had been brought up in my family,
volunteered to have this delivered to Meer Khan,
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and ten of my sowars, who were equally confi-
dential, took in hand to play him a trick in aid
of the plan. To the hircarrah I promised 800
rupees, and a thousand to the sowars. They all
left me at four p. M., and General Smith himself
agreed to'march at midnight.

The hircarrah and sowars got within a cds of
Meer Khan’s position about dawn of day, and got
information that my brother was still safe, and
had repulsed another storm on the last evening.
Being a clever fellow, he came to the following
arrangement with the sowars, namely, that just at
daybreak they should set fire to several stacks of
khurbee (corn-straw) that were in the fields, while
he should contrive to be taken by the piquets,
and of course be brought before the Meer. This
he easily made out, and being taken to Meer
Khan, he confessed at once that he had been
sent by me, who was very much attached to my
brother. That he had understood the sahib had
been taken prisoner, and was in his camp, so he
had come to fulfil the service he engaged to per-
form as a faithful servant. That the Meer might -
do with him what he pleased, only let him be
permitted to see his master.

Meer Khan had the letter read, and then asked
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the hircarrah when the army would move. He
replied that the orders issued were, that they
should move at midnight. Whilst this was going
on, the sowars had put fire to the stacks, and then
they chased in a few camp followers, who had
gone out upon business of their own. In a mo-
ment the cry arose that the English had arrived,
upon which Meer Khan immediately saddled and
mounted, ordered the hircarrah to receive a few
stripes, and in a few hours not one of them was to
be seen. The hircarrah and the sowars then went
to my brother, who welcomed them very warmly.

‘We had marched about nine cés, when inform-
ation reached us of my brother’s safety and
Ameer Khan’s flight, and next morning my
brother joined me at Circey, and was cordially
welcomed for his gallant conduct, not only by me,
but by the whole army. The whole affair met
with high praise from General Smith, and was
reported to his Excellency, Lord Lake, who
wrote a Persian letter to the men, applauding
them for their conduct. My brother’s loss in this
business was ten killed and about fifty wounded.
That of Meer Khan was about a thousand in
both. The hircarrah and sowars were very hand-
somely rewarded, and we all resumed our march
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after Ameer Khan, who had retired in the direc-
tion of Amrowah.

By this time, having lost his name in the coun-
try, and being deserted by many of his soldiers,
every walled village opposed him, and he now
pushed on towards the ford. On his way he
attacked Captain Murray, who threw himself into
a walled village, and repulsed the attack with a
loss to his assailants of several hundred men.
Colonel Burn soon arrived to the assistance of
Murray, who succeeded in capturing the Meer’s
bazaar. On the 13th Meer Khan .crossed with
only about 10,000 men out of the 30,000 which
he had brought with him from Bhurtpore.

Our news from that place, however, was very
disheartening, and threw a damp over the whole
detachment. We recrossed the Ganges at the
same ghaut where we passed it a month before in
our chase after the Meer. We marched at the rate
of fifteen or twenty miles a day, and on the 18th
came before Kamoona, the chief of which was
now much humbled, and entreated General Smith
to procure his forgiveness from his Excellency.
This the General did obtain for this villain, who
afterwards proved to be a traitor, and the cause
of many valuable lives being lost. On the 19th

G 2
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we arrived before Alleeghur, where we learned
that Ameer Khan had recrossed the Jumna. I
accompanied General Smith to Hanseagunge,
opposite to Muttra, from whence I was ordered
back to Coel. I reached that place on the 27th,
terminating a course of the severest service
that any corps had ever gone through. In the
chase after Holcar the army had gone 500 miles,
in that after Meer Khan 700 miles, and mine was
the only Hindostanee corps during all that time
that continued throughout the chase. It per-
formed all the duties of the camp, and, to the best
of my belief, was never less than eighteen hours
out of the twenty-four on horseback. The hard-
ships endured by my men, who were constantly
out, were well known to the commander and
officers of the two detachments. On the smallest
calculation, they underwent in these two chases
full twice the labour and hardship endured by the
regulars, and often in the chase after Meer Khan,
when my men had the rear-guard, have they
picked up the European dragoons who were
knocked up on the march, and dismounting, put
them on their own horses, and led them thus to
camp, conduct which made them beloved by the
dragoons: and notwithstanding this hard duty,
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they never murmured, nor were once accused of
disobeying any order whatsoever; and never did
they turn their backs before the enemy, though
frequently opposed to far superior numbers. His
Excellency’s kindness towards the corps was great,
and whenever service was to be performed, I was
sure of being sent for, which was a matter of the
greatest consolation and satisfaction to me, and
gave me spirits to undergo my labour cheerfully,
knowing that if anything were done, it would not
fail of being acknowledged by his lordship. In
these two campaigns, I had the satisfaction of
receiving from his Excellency two swords and a
pair of pistols, a circumstance which was regarded
as a mark of great favour and approbation.

At Alleeghur I remained about fifteen days,
when my brother, with 700 sowars, was ordered
to join Colonel Richardson on an expedition
against Toorkapoorah, a fort belonging to Naher
Allee of Emlanee. I at the same time was sent
with the remainder of my corps, to escort 30,000
Brinjarrahs to the army at Bhurtpore. I de-
livered my charge safe, and returned to Allee-
ghur, when I received orders to join the detach-
ment of Colonel Burn, near Saharunpore, which
was at this time again attacked by all the Sikhs.
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I marched to Dehlee, where General Ochterlony
reviewed the corps, on whom he bestowed great
praise, and presented me with a sword taken from
his own waist, in Lord Lake’s name, and in front
of the corps. I then pursued my march to join
Colonel Burn; but before I could join them,
which I did at Kurnaul, he had succeeded in driv-
ing the Sikhs across the Jumna; and in a short
time afterwards, the whole of the Sikh Rajahs
came to terms. Lord Lake had also compelled the
Bhurtpore man to the same course, and having com-
Ppleted treaties with Sindea and several Rajahs, he
broke up his camp and retired to cantonments at
Muttra, Agra, and Futtehpore Seekree, for the
rains. Col. Burn returned to Paneeput, where we
built temporary cantonments, and Holcar, having
no home to go to, retreated with the sad remains
of his troops to Jhoudpore. Meer Khan, having
now only about 10,000 men left, followed his
fortunes. '

On the 1st October 1805, however, Holcar,
who had contrived to recruit his troops in Raj-
pootanah, and to collect some artillery, marched
towards the Punjab, in hopes of receiving assist~
ance from the Sikhs, who, it was said, particularly
Runjeet Singh, had actually made some promise
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to that effect. Together with Ameer Khan's
force, he could now muster about 30,000 horse,
10,000 infantry, and about forty pieces of cannon,
and with this force he marched through the Hur-
rianah country. When he arrived at a point on
our west, we moved out from Paneeput to give
him a check, but were too late; he had passed
us, 80 we marched after him, and on the 29th
November at Rawseana, we were joined by his
Excellency Lord Lake. On the 2nd December
we reached Loodianah; but Holcar had already
crossed the Sutlej, and was only sixteen cbs from
us at a place called Jullunder.

Certain political considerations prevented Lord
Lake from crossing; but when he found that
Holcar would not move, he on the evening of
the 3rd, at dinner, observed that he wished some
one would try the ford with a troop and galloper.
Colonel Worsely told me that the hint was in-
tended for me, on which I immediately rose and
said,—* If your lordship will give me leave, I
will try the ford to-morrow morning.” He re-
plied,—¢ Be there about dawn, with two rissalahs
of your yellow boys and a galloper, and I will
also be with you.” I bowed and sat down again,
Next morning, with two choice rissalahs and a
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galloper, I was ready at the ghaut, where his
lordship, with the whole of his staff and a number
of officers from the camp, soon arrived. Colonel
Malcolm, who was one of the political agents,
dismounted along with his Excellency, and argued
the point of my crossing; but I heard his lord-
ship reply that he took the responsibility upon
himself. He then mounted, and coming up to
me, said,—*“ Well, are you ready?” ¢ Yes, my
lord,” replied I. ¢ Well then, dash forward,” said
he. Upon this I made my salaam, and giving
three cheers, dashed on.

Our horses had to swim for about twenty yards,
after which they got footing. There was an
island in the middle of the river, to which I bent
my course. On reaching this, we discovered it
to be a quicksand, in which my galloper stuck
fast. I immediately dismounted, and directed my
brother, with the two rissalahs, to cross, and then
dismounting one of them, to bring the men back
to relieve the galloper which had now sunk up to
the wheels. In less than an hour the rissalah re-
turned, took out the horses, and dragged the gun
across; and just as we landed, I took off my
hat, and giving three hurrahs, in which Colonel
Malcolm and all Lord Lake’s staff joined, pro-



SKINNER CROSSES THE SUTLEJ. 89

claimed that the first British gun had crossed
the Sutlej.

A few Sikhs made their appearance, and the
rissalah was ordered to drive them off, and no
sooner had it mounted than away they run. We
returned and sounded the ford, putting up posts
to shew the road; and the work terminated by
Lord Lake making a present of 5,000 rupees to
the two rissalahs for their activity and willingness.

On the 5th, next morning, a battalion of sepoys
was ordered across to secure the ford. Still Hol-
car kept his ground ; but when, on the morning of
the 6th, the whole army crossed, and on the 7th
commenced our march towards the Beyah, Holcar
moved on, and crossed that river. Next day, the
8th, I was sent on with 400 sowars to find out if he
had actually crossed ; and, after a march of about
thirty miles, succeeded in getting a glance at his
army which had crossed that morning. Just as I
reached the left bank, his rear-guard, who were
on the opposite one, fired a few shots at us from
an eighteen-pounder. They had been waiting for
about 1,000 Brinjarrah bullocks which had gone
out for supplies; but falling in with them on my
return to camp, I took them prisoners, and about
midnight brought them all in with me. I had
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this day marched with the army twenty miles,
ten more to the river bank, and ten more back to
camp—in all, forty miles.

Next morning, the 9th December, I went on
with the army to a point opposite to Bojepore
ghaut. From this place the pillar of Secunder*
was distant ten cds to the west, and my horse
was the first of the British camp to taste the
water of the HypHAsIS.

On the 19th, Holcar’s vakeels, accompanied by
those of Runjeet Sing, came into camp, for such
was the firmness and decision of his Excellency,
that the whole business was brought to a peaceful
termination. The bold arrogance of the Sikhs,
and the vapouring declarations of Holcar, and his
determination of making his saddle his houset
until he had accomplished his purposes, were all
cowed and humbled by the gallantry of a force
not exceeding 1,000 British troops, and to the
astonishment of the whole Indian world.

In order to give them an idea of what these
troops were, his Excellency gave a review of the

* Alexander the Great.

1 Holcar had more than once, in correspondence as well
as by word of mouth, declared, in Mahratta phrase, that his
home and house was the back of his horse, and wherever
that horse’s head pointed became his country, '
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force to Futteh Sing Alwah, Runjeet’s second in
command ; indeed, some asserted that Runjeet
himself was present in disguise. They were
amazed at the performances of the Europeans
and horse artillery, and especially when the horse
artillery dashed through intervals of cavalry after
a charge, and fired within fifty yards of the spot
where these great folks were standing. It was
all astonishment, and a general cry burst from the
Sikhs of « Wah Gooroo, Wah Gooroo!” “Jadoo
kurdeah!” ¢ Oh saints, oh saints, it is all witch-
craft!”*

On the 9th of January 1806, we left these
plains where the great Alexander of old aston-
ished the famous Rajah Phoor, and retraced our
steps to Kurnaul. On the 20th February, I was
left with my corps at that place along with Colo-
nel Burn, who was directed to remain there.
Lord Lake did not come up till the 25th, but he
halted here upwards of two months, discharging
the irregular troops with pensions and jaghires.
My corps, which had amounted to 1,700, was

* Major Thorn confirms this effect of the sight of our
military manceuvres on the Sikhs, and adds, that they were
heard whispering to one another, * Thank God, we did not
go to war with the English.”
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reduced to 1,200, the remaining 500 being dis-
charged and all the officers pensioned; and it was
the only irregular cavalry retained and made per-
manent, as a reward for their fidelity and exer-
tions. Having thus arranged matters, and Hol-
car having passed Dehlee on his return, his
lordship broke up the army and marched with
the Europeans to Cawnpore.
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CHAPTER VL

The Marquis Cornwallis relieves Lord Wellesley—Change
of policy—Lord Cornwallis dies—Is succeeded by Sir
George Barlow—Economy and reduction—Reduction of
Skinner's corps— Disappotntments— Negotiations for a pro-
vision for the Skinners— Further disappointments—Skinner
patronized by Mr. Seton— Raises a corps for the settlement
of Hurriana — Letters from friends—From the Marquis of
Hastings— Rise of the Pindarrees— Thetr chiefs—Andre-
spective strength— Their modes of plundering—.Account of
a luhbur or foray—Scheme of the Mahratta and Pindarree
war—Battles of Khirkee, Seetabuldee, and Mehidpore—
Affair of Corrygaon—Death of Holcar—Inirigues in his

Jamily— Arrangements with Sindea— Destruction of the
Pindarrees— Fate of Cheetoo—Of Kurreem Khan— Ter-
mination and consequences of the war.

But events had for some time been in progress,
which were destined sadly to damp the satisfac-
tion which Skinner had felt at the termination of
the campaign, in finding so large a portion of his
corps retained permanently on the strength of the
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service. A change of policy at home led to a
change of government in India. The Marquis
of Cornwallis was sent out to relieve Lord Wel-
lesley; and his lordship had no sooner arrived in
India, than he turned his attention to establishing
peace, on any terms, with all the native powers;
and to the reduction of expense in every branch
of the service. These measures involved a wide
departure from the bold and successful policy of
his predecessor, and serious sacrifices of principles
hitherto adhered to, with the extensive alterations
in the military establishment of the company ; and
though, while Holcar was still in arms, and Sindea
threatening, immediate reduction was impossible,
the first moment of success was seized with avidity
for bringing into play the purposed economical
reforms.

On the 5th of October, Lord Cornwallis, worn
out with age and illness, expired at Ghazeepore,
and was succeeded by Sir George Barlow, the
senior member of council, who adopted to the full
all the cautious and conciliatory principles of his
predecessor. His views were entirely adverse to
defensive alliances and subsidiary forces, and to
all sorts of interference with the states west of the
Jumna. With them, therefore, former treaties
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were abandoned,* and in the same spirit, an ar-
rangement was entered into with Sindea, on very
favourable terms for the latter. The same indul-
gence was also extended to Holcar, who, from
his treacherous hostility, still less merited such
leniency.

In all these measures his Excellency differed
very widely from the opinions entertained by the
Commander-in-Chief, Lord Lake, who failed not
to remonstrate strongly against their impolicy and
evil tendency. Nor did events long fail of prov-
ing the correctness of his views, and how ill a
timid or vacillating policy was suited for dealing
with the native powers of India. The rapid
growth of predatory bands, and general anarchy
and confusion in Central India, indicated the
justice of his lordship’s calculation and prophetic
fears.

Meantime, peace and economy being the order
of the day, curtailment of expenditure and reduc-
tion of the military followed of course, and among
the rest, Skinner’s remaining corps of 1,200 horse,
though guaranteed as permanent by Lord Lake,

* The Rajah of Jeypore, in particular, was desirous of
British protection ; but he, as well as the rest of the Raje-
poot states, was refused. .
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was ordered to be paid off. This very unpleasant
order was communicated to poor Skinner by his
lordship himself, in a manner which shows the
high regard he felt for that officer, and his sense
of the injustice of which he was compelled to be
the instrument towards him. The general order
for discharging the corps is dated the 11th April
1806, and their pay is thereby ordered to be made
good only to the 20th. It terminates by the fol-
lowing testimony to their good and faithful ser-
vice :—

¢“On this occasion, the Commander-in-Chief is
pleased to record the high sense which he entertains
of the valuable services rendered by Captain Skinner,
and the corps under his command during the war ;
and his lordship will not fail to report to Government
the zealous and successful manner in which Captain
Skinner has invariably discharged the duties of his
important station.

““As a further remark of his lordship’s estimation
of the fidelity and good conduct of the corps, he
authorizes a gratuity equal to a month’s pay each, to
be given to all the native officers and men now ordered
to be discharged.

(Signed) “T. WoRsELY,
“Deputy Adjutant-General.”
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My mind, says Skinner, had been made quite
easy by the late arrangements, when suddenly an
express arrived from Lord Lake, desiring that I
should immediately repair to head-quarters. I
immediately overtook him at Secundra, where he
was sitting at breakfast, and was very kindly
received. After breakfast, his lordship retired to
his tent, whither I was soon sent for, and found
Colonels Malcolm and Worsley with him. With
tears in his eyes he gave me the despatch from
Sir George Barlow, which contained the order to
discharge my corps. Iread it, but said nothing,
when his lordship catching me by the hand, said,
¢ Skinner, I regret this much—what can I do for
you?” ¢ My lord,” Ireplied, ¢ if you are satisfied
with my conduct, I am repaid for all my exertions.
The character you have already given me will
procure me bread ; and some just man may here-
after come to the head of affairs, who, from your
recommendation, may again take me by the hand.”
““Well,” said he, “but how can I satisfy you
now?” I replied that I should be contented with
a small jagheer, as I did not mean again to serve
as a soldier, unless obliged to do so. He asked
how much would satisfy me and my brother, to
which I replied, that I desired to-leave it all to

VOL. IL H
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his lordship. He then consulted a while aside
with Colonel Malcolm, and turning to me, asked
if 20,000 rupees a year would satisfy both of us?
I immediately thanked him, and said he was mak-
ing princes of us. He laughed, and then ap-
pointed jagheers of 5,000 rupees a year a piece to
four of my rissaldars, pensioned all the officers as
low as duffehdars,* gave three months’ pay as gra-
tuity to the rest of the corps, and placed all the
wounded men upon the Hauper establishment. I
then took my leave, with a letter to the collector
of Coel, for my jaghire; and returning, brought
the corps to Dehlee, where the painful task awaited
me of tearing myself from the men who had gained
me such laurels in the British service. All those
who had deserted that service at first, and then
came over to it, received rewards. Those only
who had proved themselves all along faithful ser-
vants were discharged from it.

Poor Skinner, however, had not, as he says,
learned the worst of his hard fate ; no sooner had
he parted from his brave comrades, and gone to
Coel to take possession of his jagheer, than he
received a letter from Colonel Malcolm, informing
him, that deing a British subject, Sir George Bar-

* Commanders of ten.
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low could not permit him to hold land, so that he
found himself, after all his zealous services, and
after many sincerely meant promises, thrown
adrift without provision or reward. The orders
of the Governor-General were not of course, to
be disputed; but his steady friend, Lord Lake,
again interfered, and he received another letter
from Colonel Malcolm in the following terms :—

“ MY pEAR SKINNER, — Lord Lake has recom-
mended you in the strongest terms to government,
and I have no doubt but you will be placed upon the
footing of Lieutenant-Colonel in the Mahratta service,
whatever that may be. With respect to your wishes
for land, Lord Lake will authorize me to speak upon
the subject when I go to Calcutta, and you may be
satisfied of my hearty endeavours to accomplish the
object you desire, and that I shall rejoice if I am at
all instrumental in promoting the success of a person
for whose character I entertain the sincerest respect,
and of the validity of whose claim upon the public
service, I have had the best opportunities of forming a

correct judgment.
(Signed) “ JNo. Marcorm.”
« Cawnpore, 7th June, 1806.” .

It appears that subsequently Skinner himself,
H 2
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doubtless acting by the advice of his friends,
wrote to the Governor-General on the same sub-
ject, and the result of the negociation was a com-
munication from Mr. Edmonstone, secretary to
Government, to Captain Skinner, intimating that
the Governor-General in Council, with reference
to the claims of those officers who had quitted the
Mabhratta service in conformity with the Governor-
Geeneral’s proclamation of August 1803, had autho-
rized his drawing the allowances to which he had
been previously entitled up to the 1st of October ;
and further, that considering the sacrifice of pros-
pects in the Mahratta service, and the circum-
stances under which it was made, he is satisfied
that the grant of a pension for life, equal to the
amount of retiring allowances of officers of equal
rank in the Company’s service, would constitute
an adequate remuneration for officers in that posi-
tion. But, with reference to the special services
rendered by the applicant himself, since quitting
the Mahratta service, and the sense which ¢ Go-
vernment entertains of your general merits and
character,” the Governor-General had been in-
duced to assign to him as remuneration, the
amount of the nett full pay of the rank of colonel
in the Honourable Company’s service; and accord-
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ingly, Captain Skinner is authorized to draw dur-
ing his life, as pension, 300 Sonaut rupees per
month, with permission to reside in any part of
the Company’s territories, or to proceed to Europe,
at his option.

This, said Skinner, was all that Lord Lake
could obtain for me; my four rissaldars got each of
them more; but I resolved in my own mind to
remain quiet, and see what further misfortunes
there might be for me to bear. In the mean time,
I received from his Excellency a letter, telling me
that what he had obtained now was for the pre-
sent only; but that as soon as he should reach
home, he would get the Court of Directors to
confirm me in my jagheer, and also to replace my
1,200 men on permanent service, in spite of Sir
George Barlow. I wrote in return a letter, ex-
pressive of my thanks, and assured his lordship,
that I had every confidence in his desire to serve
me; but that fate, I feared, was against me.
However, happen what might, I should always
. most gratefully acknowledge his lordship’s kind-
ness and favour.

I now sat myself down in Dehlee, and built
castles in the air upon the promises of my kind
and worthy protector; these continued for some
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months after his return home, when his most
lamented death put an end to my hopes, and
gealed my hard fate. Despairing now of any
better result, I found it necessary to exert my-
self, and accordingly, with the small sum I had
saved, I began to trade; and thus I continued
from the year 1806 to 1808, when Mr. Seton,
then Resident at Dehlee, took me by the hand,
and renewed my hopes of better times. He ob-
tained for us the commutation of our pension into
jagheer, which by laying out a little money on
the land, and the exercise of much diligence, we
found capable of considerable improvement. But
T had scarcely taken possession, and got interested
in my new employment, when in 1809 I was
summoned to head-quarters at Seharunpore by
General Hewitt, to whom Mr. Seton had recom-
mended me, and who was assembling an army at
that place, to bring the Sikhs, who had become
turbulent, to a sense of their duty. Here I met
with my old friend Colonel Worsely, who first
recommended that I should be put in command of
the Sikhs who were to join us, amounting to about
10,000 horse.

With this promise I went to Kurnaul, having
with me my 300 bargheers (stable-horse), who,
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by the kindness of Lord Lake, had been put in
the civil service with the Resident of Dehlee,
and remained detached at Paneeput. The Sikhs,
however, came to terms, and gave up the point
we required, which was the establishment of a
station at Loodheana.

At this time, however, Abdool Sunnud Khan,
to whom Hansee and the district of Hurreeana
had been given in jagheer, being unable to manage
the country, was desirous to give it up; and I
was ordered to attend the Hon. Edward Gardner,
with my 300 sowars, on an expedition to settle it.
Through Colonel Worsely’s means, my corps was
increased to 800 men with two gallopers, all in-
tended for the Hurreeana district. In less than
two months I completed my number, for my old
comrades, who had gone to Ameer Khan and
Holcar, joined me as soon as they heard that I
had got again into favour. From 1809 till 1814,
I worked hard in the district, and performed with
my corps many acts of gallantry, as the whole
army can witness. Among others, I was at the
taking of Bhowannee, and in company with the
6th Native Cavalry charged the garrison who
were making their escape.*

* Detachment orders by Lieut.~Col. Ball, ¢camp Bhowan-
nee, 9th Sept. 1809.
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In the year 1811, Skinner’s warm friend, Mr.
Seton, left Dehlee to accompany the Earl of
Minto, Governor-Geeneral, on his expedition to
Java, and the following letter will serve to show
the esteem in which he was held by that excellent
man :—

On board the Mornington, 12th March 1811.

“My pear James,—My departure from Dehlee
was so very sudden, that I could not write to you;
even now I can scarcely find time to do so. I can-
not, however, quit Bengal even for a Zime, without
requesting you to do me the justice to believe, that
my friendship for you will continue the same in what-
ever part of the world I may be; and that should it
ever be in my power to promote you or your brother’s
views, I shall eagerly avail myself of it.

“Lord Minto is already well acquainted with your
merits ; in short, both of you stand high in the gene-
ral estimation. Remember me in the kindest manner
to your brother Robert, and tell him for me, that where-
ever I am, he must consider me his sincere friend and
agenf. God bless you, my dear Skinner. Believe
me ever most cordially yours,

(Signed) “ A. Seron.”
“P.8.—It is most gratifying to me to reflect, that
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our friend Metcalfe, who succeeds me, feels towards
your brother and you exactly as I do.”

It seems that application had been made to
Government at this time, to have the jaghire of
the two brothers made hereditary, or revertible to
their families after their own deaths; but this, as
appears by a letter from the secretary to Govern-
ment, to the Resident at Dehlee (C. T. Metcalfe,
Esq.), the Governor-General in Council, notwith-
standing the high esteem he professed to enter-
tain for the Skinners, conceived it would be con-
trary to the principles on which jaghires were
given to accede to, as being in effect equivalent toa
perpetual tenure, and their request was accord-
ingly refused. But the estimation in which both
were held, may be understood from the three
general orders given at foot.*

* GexeraL Orpers by the CoMMANDER-IN-CHIEF.

Head-quarters, Camp Jheend, 4th Jan. 1813.

The Commander-in-Chief has seldom, on any similar
occasion, derived greater satisfaction than from the review of
the 1st battalion 19th native infantry, and Captain Skinner's
corps of irregular cavalry, the whole under the orders of
Lieutenant-Colonel Arnold, commanding at Hansee.

The performance of the battalion  * . *
—Of Captain Skinner’s corps, the Commander-in-Chief
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The services of the corps had, since their last
formation, of course been restricted to local affairs,
the reduction of refractory Zemindars, and such

considers it but justice to that officer thus publicly to de-
clare, that the size, condition, and figure of the horses, and
the arms, clothing, and appointments of the men, are of a
superior description to those of any other class of irregular
cavalry that have yet fallen under his Excellency’s obser-
vation.

Acting in brigade, their movements indicated such a
knowledge of European tactics as would enable the corps to
combine, whenever required, its movements with those of
regular troops; while its separate performance of the various
movements more peculiarly appropriate to, and character-
istic of, irregular horse, satisfactorily demonstrated the
superior excellence of the corps for that line of service
which is more immediately the object of its maintenance
by Government.

The Commander-in-Chief requests Lieutenant-Colonel
Arnold and Captain Skinner will accept his best thanks, for
having, by their individual and united exertions, rendered
the two corps at Hansee so highly disciplined and efficient.

(A true copy.)
(Signed) A. Gorpox,
Deputy Adjutant-General.

—

DetacEMENT OrDERS by LieuTeNant-Coroner AmNoLD,
commanding at Hansee.

29th Jan. 1818.
The commanding officer having, at the inspection, this
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duty as arises in the settlement districts brought
into order for the first time. But in the mean
time, Lord Moira had succeeded Lord Minto as

morning, of the corps of irregular horse commanded by
Captain Skinner, experienced singular satisfaction in the
performances of their various evolutions, both regular and
desultory, he begs to add his testimony to their extraordi-
nary attainments in discipline, to those already awarded
them by that experienced and veteran officer Lieutenant-
Colonel Adams, whose sentiments were so fully acquiesced
in, at the recent review of the troops, by his Excellency
Lieutenant-General Champaigne.

Lieutenant-Colonel Arnold returns his most eordml
thanks to Captain Skinner, for the result of his unwearied
exertions so ably exemplified in the exercise this morning,
and entreats he will explain to the corps at large the high
ideas he entertains of their merits.

(Signed) J. ArnoLp,
Lieut:-Col. commanding.

S—

DeracamMext Orper by Coroner ArNoLD,
commanding at Hansee.
6th Oct. 1814.
Colonel Arnold, in quitting the post of Hansee, where he
has commanded for nearly three years, performs a grateful
duty in returning his sincere thanks to Captain Skinner,
for the great and prompt assistance, in all emergencies,
received from him, Lieutenant Robert Skinner, and the
corps of irregular cavalry, whose gallantry and good con-
duct has been repeatedly recorded. The orderly behaviour
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Governor-General, and soon found that the pros-
pect of more serious hostilities would demand an
increase of military means to meet the emergency,
and accordingly the following letter prepared
Captain Skinner for employment more extensive
and better suited to his zealous and active dis-
position :—

Camp Mooradabad, 6th December 1814.
(Private and Confidential.)

“MyY DEAR SKINNER,—Instead of an addition of
only four rissalahs, I am now to acquaint you, that
the Governor-General is determined to augment the
corps under your command to 3,000 sowars; you
may, therefore, proceed to take measures to raise that
number as soon as you can, and let me know without
delay what assistance you will require in money, that
an advance may be authorized to enable you to carry
the measure into effect.

“I wish you would let me know in confidence,
what number of cavalry, of the same excellent descrip-

of the corps in cantonment, and the alacrity and effect with
which they perform all duties required of them, cannot be
surpassed. Colonel Arnold entreats of Captain Skinner to
make known his sentiments to his brother, Lieut. Robert
Skinner, and the corps at large, which he quits with regret,
both as friends and valuable brother soldiers.
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tion as that under your command, you could raise, and
whether you do not think that raising a large body
of them would probably have the effect of drawing off
a great proportion of Meer Khan’s best cavalry.—1I re-
main, my dear Skinner, yours very sincerely,

(Signed)  “G. H. Facax.”

The 3,000 horse were accordingly raised in less
than a twelvemonth, and though the nature of the
Nepaulese or Ghoorka war afforded but few and
imperfect opportunities for the use of horse, small
parties of this corps were attached to several of
the detachments employed against the Ghoorkas,
as at Kalunga and Jytock, with Generals Gil-
lespie and Martindale, with Generals Nichols and
Ochterlony, and they were eminently useful in
assisting the regular troops in overawing the powers
of Hindostan, especially Sindea and Holcar, who
were looking anxiously to the event of our con-
test with the Nepaulese, and who, upon the un-
successful opening of that war, shewed very signi-
ficant symptoms of the spirit which animated
them.

This increase of force, however, had reference
not so much to the war at that time in progress,
and in which cavalry could take but little part,
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as to another and more important militaryenter-
prise, contemplated even at that time by the
Marquis of Hastings, and in which the services
of an efficient body of irregular cavalry, such as
Skinner’s, were likely to prove most valuable. It is
obvious, in fact, that the noble Marquis did highly
appreciate the value of Skinner and his brother,
as commanders of such troops, as will appear from
two letters addressed by himself to that officer,
and which, though marked confidential, we scruple
not to annex at foot.* Alas! all who could then

* Lerrer from the Marquis or Hastings to Lieur.-Cor.
SKINNER.
Futtehghur, 25th March 1815.

Str,—Lieut.-Colonel Fagan has laid before me your letter
containing the application of your brother for leave to retire
from the service. Let me beg of you to entreat that he will
suspend his determination until he may be secure against
foregoing advantages which might have made the profession
agreeable to him. Circumstances have prevented my being
able yet (as I must carry the vice-president in Council with
me on such a point) to settle the rank for officers in the
irregular corps. I need not repeat to you my anxiety to
put that matter on a footing which would be gratifying to
officers of that description, and not much time is required
for arranging it.

You mention your readiness to sever from the corps which
you command a proportion which might make a separate
one for your brother. I own to you I should prefer his
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have been interested in their being kept private,
have long since ceased to think of earthly things,
and the sentiments they express can but do honour

continuing (with advanced rank) second to you; though I
would station him with a party of your corps at a distance
from you. The wish to keep your command as respectable
as possible, is what influences my disposition on that point.
Therefore, tell me frankly whether your brother can be
reconciled to that plan.—I have the honour, sir, to be, your
very obedient servant, (Signed) Moira.

The Marquis or HastiNGs to the same.
(Confidential.)
Futtehghur, 15th April, 1815.

Sir,—On reflection, I know not whether I have not to
charge myself with omission, in not explaining to you (as it
might have had weight with your brother) the particular
bearing of the arrangement which I professed to have in
contemplation. My motive, however, for the reserve was a
just one. I wished to avoid the appearance of reckoning
decidedly on the concurrence of Council on & matter which
I had referred to their opinion, though I had expressed my
own conviction to them of the expediency of the measure.

What I proposed was, to confer the qualified rank of
lieutenant-colonel and major upon officers of talent and
experience in the irregular service. You are sufficiently
aware of the jealousy with which the opening such a door
would be regarded by the officers of the regular army;
therefore you will be sensible it was necessary to guard this
first step with ostensible restrictions. Following the analogy
which was fixed for the officers of the provincial corps of
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to all parties. There is another letter, however,
that we shall insert here, as it happily expresses
the high estimation in which Colonel Skinner was

Loyalists who served with the king's army in America, I
proposed that the youngest major of the line should com-
mand the eldest licutenant-colonel of irregulars; but that
the field officers of the latter should command all captains
of the regular service. By this arrangement, you see, it
would be practicable to entrust an irregular officer with a
considerable force, having only the attention to place under
him battalions which happened to be commanded by cap-
tains. The degree in which such a capability of distinction
must raise the situation of the irregular field officers will be
obvious to you ; and as I had contemplated the giving the
rank of major to your brother, I naturally hoped the altera-
tion might have made continuance in the service agreeable
to him. To give him the chance of availing himself of any
variation in sentiment which this explanation might pro-
duce, I shall say nothing of his resignation until the answer
from the Council shall arrive. At the same time, it would
be improper for me to keep him in suspense, if he still wish
to abide by his determination ; and in that case (but in that
case only), his resignation shall be understood to have been
accepted by me from the 10th inst.

You will comprehend that the rank to which I have
alluded would not be progressive by ordinary brevet,
though any brilliant service performed in it would actually
tend to advancement. Of course, these observations (though
the outline merely is to be communicated to your brother)
are intended to rest with yourself alone. It will, I trust, be
believed by you that I have peculiar pleasure in thus mani-
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held by the most competent judges in the regular
service. It is from Colonel Worsely, formerly
Deputy-Adjutant-General on Lord Lake’s staff.

“ MY DEAR SKINNER,—You will hear of the honour
lately conferred on the Indian army by the Prince
Regent, in allowing the officers to participate in the
Order of the Bath. Having had an opportunity of
seeing the Earl of Buckinghamshire, by whom the
measure was brought about, I observed to him, that
if honorary members could be allowed on our side of
the water, as had been done with regard to German
and other foreign officers in his Majesty’s service, that
Captain Skinner, who commands a corps of irregular
horse, possessed very distinguished claims to such
notice.

“ His lordship replied with readiness, that he had
often heard of Skinner’s corps; but as he feared you
did not hold any commission from his Majesty, he
was sorry no such extension of the measure could be
adopted. T replied, you certainly had no commission
from his Majesty, though you were now serving the

festing to & person so respectable and meritorious as you,
the light in which I consider your equitable claims.—I have
the honour, sir, to remain, &e. &c.,
(Signed) Morza.
VOL. II I
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Hon. Company. He then said the thing was im-
possible.

“Never mind, my friend, these things are only
feathers, and at all events, no longer tickle us when
once we pass the heyday of life, and exchange the
tulwar for the zemeendary karkhanah, and at any rate,
you may confidently indulge the reflection, that you
have fully deserved this honour, though your nusseeb
has not commanded or obtained it. I must now con-
clude. Believe me, yours very sincerely,

(Signed) «“H. WogsELY.”
¢ Isle of Wight, 15th Feb. 1815.”

The occasion which, as we have above re-
marked, gave rise to so great an increase of de-
mand for irregular cavalry, as is pointed at in the
letter of Colonel Fagan, was no less than the con-
templated movement by Lord Hastings against
the Pindarree freebooters and their supporters in
Central India. )

The consequences of that narrow and timid
policy, which in 1805-6 huddled up a peace with
the Mahratta states and powers of Central India,
before they had been sufficiently humbled by our
arms to feel their comparative weakness, and the
necessity of an honest adherence to the treaties
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imposed upon them, very soon began to show
themselves. In fact, a sense of utter impotence
could alone restrain from action haughty chiefs,
whose natural jealousy had been exasperated into
hatred by defeat, and whose wounded honour and
soreness of crippled power could only be soothed
by the hope of one day turning upon their con-
querors with better success than heretofore.

Of the principal Mahratta chiefs,—the Peishwah,
Sindea, Holcar, and Bhounslah,—the first, forced
into a subsidiary alliance by an impulse of self-
preservation in a moment of danger, was again
ungrateful ; jealous of our interference, secretly
hostile and treacherous. Sindea, though not an
avowed enemy, still cherished a sullen hatred
against the power that had humbled him,
checked his course of conquest, and curbed his
ambitious views. His secret enmity was dis-
covered in the treasonable correspondence he
maintained against the British interests, with the
Nepaulese, with the Peishwah, and other ill-
disposed chiefs. The hatred of Holcar and the
Bhounslah had its origin in the same source; all
desired our downfall as strangers and interlopers,
who had placed a restraint upon their projects of
devastation. Nor did gratitude for being delivered

12
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from the gripe of Ameer Khan restrain the hostile
spirit of the last from acting against the power
which had deprived him of Berar and Cuttack.

But, even had no hostility been evinced or
suspected on the part of the Mahratta princes, the
consequences of their system of government, or
rather of misrule, were of themselves sufficient to
call for interference on the part of the British
authorities. Instead of discharging the functions
of government by a system of regular depart-
ments, their only means for executing these duties
lay in a lawless military force. Beyond the boun-
daries of his own immediate, and as it were per-
sonal domain, each chief collected what he could
force from the people of the country at the point
of the spear and by a system of forays; and
the tribute thus collected was termed chout, or
moolkgeeree, expressions equivalent to the black
mail exacted by predatory bands in other coun-
tries. The country of Sindea, or Holcar, never
enjoyed peace; its peasantry were never safe in
person or in property. The army of these chiefs
was constantly detached in parties under leaders,
to raise contributions, to reduce forts, or punish
refractory officers and zemindars, all over Raje-
pootanah, Malwah, and Bhopaul.
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Such a system among the leading powers
could not fail of encouraging that strong propen-
sity to plunder so inherent in the population of
all these districts { and, in fact, instead of making
any attempt at putting down marauders, it be-
came a part of the Mahratta policy to encourage
such bands, for they afforded additional means
to the protecting chiefs of enlarging their own
sphere of military plunder. The consequence
was, that, by the year 1814, the country was over-
spread with bands of freebooters, who ravaged,
systematically, every district from the Kishna to
the desert of Marwar.

It is by no means our purpose to inflict upon
our readers a history of the rise and progress of
these freebooters, who are best known by the
name of Pindarrees. Those who are curious
on the subject will find it very fully treated of
in the authorities mentioned at foot.* It is suf-
ficient to state, that in 1814 they were computed to
have numbered full 40,000 horsemen of all sorts,
without including those who attached themselves
more especially to the armies of Holcar and Sin-

* J. Grant Duff’s « History of the Mahrattas” ; Sir John
Malcolm’s  Central Indis,” vol. i.; Prinsep’s * History of
the Pindarree War."”
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dea, or the Patans of Ameer Khan, who, count-
ing horse and foot, is said at this time to have
been at the head of 30,000 men.

The principal leaders at this time were the fol-
lowing :—The celebrated Cheetoo, whose durra, or
horde, was estimated at from 10,000 to 15,000;
Kurreem Khan, at this time, only 4,000; Dost
Mahomed and Wasil Mahomed, 6,000; inferior
and independent leaders, 8,000.

Two sons of a famous chief (by that time dead)
named Burun, afterwards well known as the two
Rajuns, had not at this time acquired their full
influence, and generally acted with the other
sirdars.

These chiefs all haunted the valley of the Ner-
budda, and the mountains to the north and south
of it. There they had their camps and strong-
holds, where, by sufferance of the fixed powers,
they bestowed their families and property when
absent on expeditions, and there they themselves
dwelt and pastured their horses during the rains
and hot weather. By the time of the dussera,—
an annual festival occurring at the end of Octo-
ber or beginning of November,—each chief planted
his standard in his camp, and to these flocked all
loose spirits and lawless adventurers who sought
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to partake of their fortunes. There were formed
their plans of rapine and plunder, and there they
trained their horses for hard work andlong marches.
By the end of the dussera, when the rivers gene-
rally become fordable, they shod their horses,
chose leaders, and set forth upon their projected
lubhur, or foray. The party usually ranged from
one to several thousands. Of these, the propor-
tion of good and well-mounted cavalry was usually
that of 400 out of every 1,000, and these were
always armed with long spears and swords; be-
gides which, every fifteenth or twentieth man had
a matchlock. The rest were of all sorts, looties
or common scamps, attendants, slaves, or followers
of the camp, mounted as each man could manage,
on tattoos or ponies, and armed with every sort of
weapon they might possess. Thus, without bag-
gage or encumbrances, their progress was so rapid
as almost to mock pursuit; and the barbarous
atrocities they committed, their ingenuity of tor-
tures to extort property, and their system of
wanton destruction were beyond the power of
description.

Under such a progress of devastation, it is
obvious that every country they visited must
have become a waste, which grew wider and wider
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as the mere exhaustion of its resources caused the
freebooters to spread further, until cultivation and
cultivators alike disappeared from the land. No
language can paint the melancholy scale of desola~
tion to which the Rajepoot dominions were re-
duced, and that of Meywar in particular ; nor did
Malwah, Candeish, or the northern districts of the
Dekhan, Mahratta though they were, escape much
better. The sketch of a single lubhur, or foray,
which was made by Cheetoo, in the end of 1815,
upon the Company’s territories, will suffice to give
some idea of the ruin effected by these miscreants
in a single season.

Mr. Prinsep tells us that the Pindarrees assem-
bled at Cheetoo’s camp, at the dussera of 1815, to
the number of 8,000 of all descriptions. They
crossed the Nerbudda on the 14th October, and
took a southward course. But soon breaking into
two masses, onme, in passing the valley of the
Taptee, was surprised in its bivouac by a small
party of the Nizam's reformed infantry, under
Major Fraser. Galloping off, however, with but
little loss, they continued plundering in a southerly
direction to the banks of the Kishna.

The other party went to the south-east, and
passing through part of the Nagpore territories,
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traversed those of the Nizam from north to
south, as far as the bank of the Kishna; and the
territories of the Madras presidency were only
preserved by the accident of that river not being
fordable at the time. The freebooters, therefore,
turned eastward, marking their course by a broad
line of fire and blood to the frontier of Masuli-
patam; when they took a northward direction:
and, eluding all the British posts and parties,
returned along the line of the Godavery and the
‘Wurda, to Neemawur. The booty acquired in the
Nizam’s dominions, in the course of this excursion,
was 80 great, that there being no merchants of
sufficient substance to purchase it at Neemawur,
they had to send to Oojeine for purchasers.

This success led immediately to another ex-
pedition. By the 5th February, 10,000 men,
under various leaders, again assembled at Neema-
wur, and crossing the Nerbudda, pursued the
same track to the SSE. that had been taken by
the former expedition on its return. And the
first that was heard of this body was its appearance
on the western frontier of the Masulipatam dis-
trict in the Madras presidency, on the 10th of
March. From thence it turned southwards, and
next day made a march of thirty-eight miles, in
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the course of which it plundered ninety - two
villages, committing in each the most frightful
cruelties. On the following day (the 12th), after
another march of thirty-eight miles, and the de-
struction of fifty-eight villages, the horde arrived
at the civil station of Guntoor, where they plun-
dered all the houses of the civil offices, and a con-
siderable part of the town. The government
treasure, and the persons of the British residents,
were protected at the collector’s office by the ex-
ertions of a few troops and invalids, kept at the
station for civil duties. But Pindarrees never
risk loss either of time or life; so they decamped
immediately with what they could get, and before
night not a strange horseman was to be seen in
the neighbourhood. The whole had hurried off to
the westward, making on the next day a march of
fifty-two miles. '

For twelve days did this body of maurauders
continue pillaging within the Company’s frontier ;
and after leaving Guntoor, they swept through
part of the Kuddapa district, and recrossed the
Kishna on the 22nd of March—just escaping a
squadron of the Madras native infantry, which
came to the opposite bank at the very time they
had made good their passage. Detachments were
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sent out in all directions; but the lubhur split
into several bodies, probably in order to baffle
pursuit; and, though some of them had narrow
escapes, the whole, or nearly so, of the large body
that crossed the Nerbudda in February, had re-
crossed it in safety by the 17th of May, having,
with perfect impunity, carried off a second im-
mense booty within the year. Of the damage done
in the Company’s territory in these twelve days,
some idea may be formed from the report of a
committee appointed to inquire into the whole
matter; and from which it appears that, indepen-
dent of the value taken or destroyed, there were
182 individuals put to a cruel death, 505 severely
wounded, and 3,603 subjected to different kinds
of torture.

Had this unequalled system of rapine and
murder been confined to those provinces and
states which the British, by their own mistaken
policy, had placed beyond the pale of their own
protection, even then so gross an injury to the
prosperity of the whole country could never have
been tolerated in its neighbourhood; but these
daring acts of aggression upon its own territory
and subjects, called imperatively for immediate
punishment and measures of prevention for the
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future. And the Marquis of Hastings, fully
aware of the intimate connection between the
fixed and secretly hostile powers with the mau-
rauders, resolved to adopt a plan of operations so
extensive as at once to crush all such insidious
hostility, and sweep from the face of the country
every freebooter that infested it.

So early as the end of 1816," a number of
- detachments were thrown out from various points,
with so much skill as to check the lubhurs of that
season with considerable success, and great loss on
the part of the Pindarrees. But arrangements on
a far more extensive scale were in progress; and,
while negociations were opened with those princes
or chieftains who could be brought to reason, the
preparations for coercing the refractory were
silently but industriously carried on. During the
summer and autumn of 1817, the various bodies
of troops assembled at their posts. The grand
army, under command of Lord Hastings in person,
consisting of about 34,000 regular troops, was
formed in three divisions and a reserve, and occu-
pied positions at Agra, Secundra, near Kalpee,
on the Jumna, and Kalinger in Bundelcund ; the
reserve being stationed at Rewarree south-west of
Dehlee.
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The army of the Dekhan, under command of
Lieutenant-General Sir Thomas Hislop, was
formed in five divisions and a reserve; and
amounted to 57,000 regulars, which were dis-
posed so as to cross the Nerbudda simultaneously
at Hindia and Hoshingabad, to occupy positions
in Berar and in Candeish, and act as circum-
stances should indicate; while a division from
Guzerat was to enter Malwah by Dohud. To this
large force of regular troops—the largest by far
that ever took the field from British India—was
added 23,000 of irregular horse, of which 13,000
were attached to the army of the Dekhan, and
10,000 to that of Bengal.

This vast scheme, rendered complete by some
subsidiary details, was calculated to embrace the
whole disaffected region; and advancing inwards,
like one of Timour’s or Chenghiz-Khan’s gigantic
hunts, to converge to any central point that
should prove the fittest for final action, and thus
gather together and crush, without hope of escape,
every refractory or treacherous power within its
circuit. Never, assuredly, was any plan of military
operations better concerted to effect its purpose;
and never was any combination of diplomatic and
military tactics more completely crowned with
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success. The end of that year, and the space of
a single month, saw the Peishwah and the Bhoun-
slah, with the representatives of Holcar, baffled
alike in their intrigues and their efforts at open
resistance. The battle of Khirkee,* and its train
of consequences, sent the first a hunted fugitive,
worn out and driven alike from every stratagem
and stronghold, to a quiet asylum in the territories
of the power he had so shamefully abused. The
battles of Seetabuldee* and Nagpore, in like
manner, proved the deathblows to the Bhoun-

* We dare not trespass so far on the patience of our
readers as to inflict on them even the shortest sketch of the
three celebrated battles, which, if they did not actually ter-
minate, gave that spirit to the war which brought it to its
speedy issue—those of Khirkee, Seetabuldee, and Mehidpore
—although in the first of these 2,800 British troops, of
which only 800 were Europeans, broke and scattered 28,000
of the Peishwah’s chosen troops; and, in the second, 18,000
Mahrattas and Arabs, brave and fierce soldiers, were repulsed
and put to flight by scarce 1,400 sepoys. That reply of
the gallant Fitzgerald, when, seeing the critical moment, he
repeatedly, but in vain, besought his commander for leave
to charge the cavalry which were swarming in the plain—
that reply will never be forgotten in India: “Tell him to
charge at his peril!” was the stern and impatient refusal he
received. * At my peril, then be it!” exclaimed Fitzgerald ;
and dashing forward with his small party, all animated with
the same spirit, they scattered the immense body of horse,
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slah chief; for though he did at first succeed in
deceiving the British authorities and obtaining
too favourable terms, his innate duplicity was not

took the batteries which were spreading death through our
ranks, and saved the day, and the life of every being on that
desperately contested ground.

Not less gallantly fought and dearly won was the battle
of Mehidpore, where Sir John Malcolm, who crossed the
river with scarce 2,000 bayonets, stormed and took seventy
pieces of well-served cannon in position, and routed 20,000
men. The desperate character of that single but conclusive
charge was attested by the loes, in one short quarter of an
hour, of nearly 800 men in killed and wounded.

Page after page might be filled with splendid traits and
anecdotes of these celebrated battles, did we feel a right to
diverge so far from the more special subject of this memoir.
But there is one exploit less known to the public, which, in
point of intrepid gallantry, may vie with any feat of this or
of former wars, and which we cannot pass over in silence.
It is that remarkable defence of Korreigaon by one weak
battalion of sepoys against an almost countless multitude.

Captain Staunton, in command of the 2nd battalion of
the 1st Bombay native infantry, had been summoned from
Seroor to reinforce the troops at Poonah, and had left the
former place 500 strong, with two 6-pounders, and twenty-
six European artillerymen, at eight on the night of the 31st
December. By ten o'clock on New Year's Day, after
marching all night, they reached the high ground above
Korreigaon, a village on the bank of the river Beema, from
whence they saw the whole of the Peishwah’s cavalry,
25,000 horse, on the opposite side. Unable to ford the
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long to be controlled or concealed. He fled to
the Pindarrees, shared their ruin, and became a
homeless fugitive in a foreign land.

river in the face of this formidable force, Captain Staunton
took post in the village, which, though surrounded by a
low and ruinous mud wall, was entirely open on the east
side, and had numerous breaches towards the river side.
6,000 Arab and Ghossein infantry were called in by
the enemy, on the battalion making its appearance; and
scarce had it taken up its position, when 2,000 of these
advanced to assault it, under cover of showers of rockets.
They were gallantly met and repulsed at all points; but,
unfortunately, got hold and retained possession of a square
inclosure in the centre of the place, from whence they were
enabled to fire on the sepoys with deadly aim. On the
first repulse, the village was instantly surrounded by swarms
of horse and foot furious to enter, and then began one of
the severest and most obstinately continued contests that
India ever witnessed. The sepoys, fatigued with a long
night’s march, without provisions or water, had to sus-
tain the continued attack of myriads, constantly relieving
each other, and under a burning sun. The ruinous wall
offered no protection—the enemy swarmed up to the very
guns. Every foot of ground was disputed ; several streets
were taken and retaken. Half of the Europeans were
speedily killed or disabled; of the eight officers they had,
half were killed or wounded ; and the Arabs, in successful
charge, baving got possession of a small temple in which
three of them were lying, savagely murdered the wounded.
The sufferings from thirst, especially of the wounded,
were now dreadful. The men were either fainting from
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The subjection of the once proud family of
Holcar cost even less time and trouble. Jess-
wunt Rao, after his return from the Punjab in

fatigue, or frantic for want of water, and seemed fast giving
way. At this moment, Lieutenant Chisholm, of the artil-
lery, was struck down, and the Arabs charged and took one
of the guns. All seemed lost, when Lieutenant Thomas
Pattison—eternal honour to the hero |—lying there mortally
wounded, hearing of the loss of the gun, started to his feet,
and seizing a musket called upon the grenadiers to follow
him “once more.” He rushed on the Arabs, striking to
right and left, and, well seconded by his men, scattered or
slew the Arabs, retook the gun, and then, again shot
throngh the body, fell upon the ground he had so nobly
won.

The headless trunk of Lieutenant Chisholm, dragged from
under a pile of dead Arabs, proclaimed to the men the fate
they had to look for, if the place should fall into the
enemy's hands. The slight success revived their spirits,
and one and all renewed the conflict; and although towards
evening nature again began to droop, and the situation of
the battalion was very hopeless, yet by nightfall the enemy
relaxed in their attack. The men got water. By nine
o'clock the firing ceased, and the village was evacuated by
the Peishwah’s troops.

In the morning they were still seen hovering round the
village, and Captain Staunton opened his guns again, and
prepared for the worst. But they soon moved off in the
direction of Poonah, baving heard of General Smith’s
approach. Captain Stannton, not knowing this, resolved to
refire upon Seroor, but gave out that he still intended to

VOL. II K
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1806, survived for five years, in a state of moody
and savage ferocity, that gradually lapsed into
insanity. He died an imbecile madman in 1811.
His death, as is ever the case in such circum~
stances, was the signal for a perfect rush of crimes
and intrigues of the most disgusting and revolting
description, in which the fall or murder of the

continue his march to Poonah. Moving, as if with this
intention, he suddenly counter-marched on Seroor, and
reached that place next morning, carrying with him as
many as he could of his wounded. His loss was 175 men
in killed and wounded, of which twenty were of the Euro-
pean artillerymen. Of eight European officers, three were
killed, and two wounded severely. During the action, the
Peishwah, with the Satarah Rajah, sat on a height on the
other side the stream, upbraiding his officers, and asked
them, tauntingly, * where were now their boasts of defeat-
ing the English, when they could not overcome one bat-
talion.”

1t is a singular and a touching trait of these gallant men,
so far were they from priding themselves on this wonderful
defence, that, mortified at not having accomplished the pur-
pose of their march, and conceiving themselves beaten, they
came into cantonments with drooping heads and a painful
sense of humiliation ; nor was it until they experienced the
hearty welcome and warm congratulations of their comrades
that they were consoled and restored to their own self-
esteem—they bad, indeed, won a wreath of laurels which
can never fade.—See a more detailed account of this glorious
defence in Grant Duff’s History, vol. iii. p. 435.
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principal actors served but to clear the field for .
a new succession of adventurers in the foul and
bloody work, and the whole country became a
scene of rapine and of pillage. In these crimes
and intrigues, the beautiful and infamous Toolsah
Bhye, the mistress of Jesswunt Rao, was the
principal actress; until her own time came at
length. She was separated from the young prince
Mulhar Rao, the nominal successor of Jesswunt
and the very day before the desperate and deci-
sive battle of Mehidpore, she was taken from the
prison into which she had been cast by the then
dominant party, and brought, towards daybreak,
in her palankin to the bank of the Seepra. Many
were roused by her cries for mercy; “ but no foot
was stirred, no voice was raised,” said an eye-wit-
ness of the scene, “to save a woman who had
never shown mercy to others.”

That battle broke, effectually and for ever, the
force and family of Holcar. Its guns were all
taken, its excellent infantry, many of them of
De Boigne’s old brigades, were soon after de-
stroyed; and at Murdissore, the submission of
the young chief was tendered to the British com-
mander. On the 6th of January 1818, he en-
tered into a subsidiary treaty, which reduced that

K 2
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haughty house to the rate of a secondary state,
and for ever put a stop to the mischief, of which
their ambitious and intriguing spirit had so long
been the cause.

Sindea, by good fortune, far more than by good
policy or honesty, weathered the storm which
destroyed his brother princes. Equally intriguing
and deceitful ; in correspondence with all the ene-
mies of the British ; the near vicinity of the army
under Lord Hastings, and the division under
General Donkin, kept him from moving until the
battles of Khirkee and Seetabuldee opened his
eyes, and he accepted the subsidiary treaty which,
however distasteful, afforded him the only means
of safety in his option.

The minor chieftains were easily dealt with.
Separate treaties or settlements were made with
each according to the nature of their respective
cases; and above all, every state, large or small,
in Central India and Hindostan, was guaranteed
against the aggression of its neighbours or the
incursions of predatory bands. Ameer Khan,— the
chief of these freebooters, whose military estab-
lishment was such as to cause him to be regarded
more in the light of a substantial power,~—when
he saw his former supporters all prostrated, all
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scope for future plunder cut off, felt that *his
occupation was gone”; and though, with charac-
teristic deceit and cunning, he fought for delay, he
found at last that nothing remained for him but
to submit to the terms of the conqueror. These
were not hard; after many attempts at evasion,
he gave up his guns, disbanded his Patans, some
of whom were taken into the British service; and
abandoning all schemes of ambition or of plunder,
sat quietly down on his jaghire of Tonk Ram-
poorah guaranteed to him by British generosity,
and worth 150,000, a year.

‘With the states above mentioned, fell the Pin«
darrees ; for them there was no longer any home or
resting-place—their day was past. Of these chiefs,
the famous Cheetoo, after a career of infinite
variety and enterprize, embraced the fortunes of
Appa Sahib; and after the battle of Nagpore,
oonducted the ex-rajah to the neighbourhood
of Asseerghur, having had his followers cut up in
detail by British detachments. An English party
having made its appearance as he reached the
vicinity of the place, his few remaining people
dispersed, and he took refuge in the deep jungles
of Egwhss. Unfortunately for himself, he would
not trust in the promises of mercy held out by
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the English authorities ; so here, wandering alone,
tracked like a hunted animal by the hoof-prints
of his horse, he was sprung upon and killed by a
tiger. An officer of Holcar’s, hearing of this
event, hastened to the spot, where the horse,
saddle, sword, ornaments and part of the body,
with some papers, grants of land from Appa
Sahib, were found. They traced the tiger to his
den, and then discovered the head still perfect,
and at once recognised it as that of the celebrated
Pindarree Sirdar.

The fortunes of Kurreen Khan would furnish

matter for a volume. At one time exalted, by a
" concurrence of fortunate events, to the semblance
of independent power; at another, a captive
in a dungeon, or a fugitive for his life, the year
1817 found him escaped from the camp of
Holcar; and at the express desire of Sindea,
joining the durra of Wésil Mahomed to assist in
opposing the English. But disappointed and
disgusted at the refusal of that chief to assist
them, from fear of detection by the British autho-~
rities, he abandoned his family, and fled, very
slightly attended, back to Holcar’s camp at Mun-
dissore. From thence he was driven from similar
motives to those of Sindea; and after concealment
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for some time, and under many disguises, he was
persuaded at length to throw himself uncondition-
ally on the mercy of the British government. By
them he was sent to Goruckpore, where lands
were allotted for his support. Namdar Khan,
one of his chief leaders, also surrendered himself';
and most of the rest followed his example. Whésil
Mahomed took refuge in Sindea’s camp; but
being seized and imprisoned there, in conformity
with that prince’s treaty with the British, he
destroyed himself by poison. )

Thus perished the Pindarrees, a growth of
the diseased times—a race that could only have
existed in an atmosphere of total anarchy and
disorganization. Living solely on rapine, without
any peaceful pursuit, it needed but to deprive
them of all field for plunder, to effect their extir-
pation. To do this was the object of Lord
Hastings in this extensive and complicated enter-
prize. How well he, succeeded, we have seen.
¢ There remains not a spot in India,” says Sir J.
Malcolm, *that a Pindarree can call his home.
They have been hunted like wild beasts. Num-
bers have been killed; all who adopted their
cause have fallen. Their principal leaders have
either died, submitted, or become captives . .
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A minute investigation only can discover any of
these once formidable disturbers, concealed as
they are amongst the lowest classes.” Nothing,
indeed, is more wonderful than the rapid fall and
utter extinction of these marauders. All power-
ful and intangible as they appeared at the
commencement of this striking campaign, ‘before
the year was out, they had vanished. In the
month of September 1817, full one hundred thou-
sand wild freebooters ravaged and trampled down
the realms of Central India; by the end of De~
cember in the same year, they were gone—dead
or merged in the peaceful mass of the people,
never to reappear, leaving no trace behind them
of the hordes that had desolated India. Such is
one feat—one lasting and characteristic boon be~
stowed by the British government upon the people
of Hindostan.
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CHAPTER XV.

Operations of the reserve division of the army against Ameer
Khan— Meeting of the Meer with Sir David Ochterlony—
The Meer’s appearance and conversation— Arrangement
with him— Negotiations with Jeypore—Ineffective— Em-=
ployment of Skinner's corps—Escort Bajee Rao to Bittoor,
and Chimnagee, his brother, to Allahabad—General orders,
and letters public and private— One-third of the corps paid
off ~A jagheer granted him in lieu of pension— Letters in
regard to that arrangement— Further reduction of his corps
—His observations thereupon—Narrative resumed—His
corps again increased—Variously employed—Ordered to
join the army at Muttra under Lord Combermere—March
against Bhurtpore— Affair with the enemy— Major Fraser
defeats a party of them, and takes possession of a disputed
bund— Drives another party into the fort—General order,
—The corps volunteers to join the storming party—Shadull
Khan’s acceptance of his commander’s charge—The mine
sprung— The storm— Particulars of the various divisions—
Gallant exploits—Major Hunter's encounter with a chief—
The place taken—Degraded condition of the Bhurtpore
state—Its reputed strength and riches—Chumars the de-
positaries of the secrets of hidden treasures—Settlement
with Alwur, §c.—Entertainment given to Lord Comber<
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mere by the corps— Proposed reduction of the corps— Re-

monstrances against the measure—Successful.

Ix the disposition of the troops for the campaign
that has just been described, Colonel Skinner,
with 2,000 of his corps, had been ordered to
join Sir David Ochterlony, as part of the reserve
division which was posted at Rewarree as a
check upon Ameer Khan and his Patans. In the
beginning of December, this reserve moved south-
ward towards Jeypore, Ameer Khan being at
that time employed in reducing Madhoo Raje-
poora. Negociations were in progress with him,
as well as with the Rajah of Jeypore: and it is a
striking proof of how distasteful to all the chief-
tains of Hindostan was a treaty with the British,
involving, as it generally did, a subsidiary force
and some power of interference, that he could
prefer the tender mercies of Ameer Khan and his
Patans, who had been, and were still, ravaging his
country, to the protection of the British govern-
ment, clogged by such stipulations.

On the 10th, the reserve arrived at Sanganere,
near Jeypore; whither vakeels came into camp
from Ameer Khan. But the treaty with the
Rajah made no real progress, and none of the
officers were permitted to go into the town.
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On the 15th, the treaty with Ameer Khan
being in a state of forwardness, Sir David Ochter-
lony with his personal staff, Colonel Skinner, the
Nawab Ahmed Buksh Khan, and some other
persons, proceeded to a village four cds distant
from the camp, in order to meet the Meer; who
on his part advanced six cos from his own camp
to see the General. The first meeting of cere-
mony took place next morning. The Meer was
attended by 500 horsemen, a company of infantry,
and two galloper guns. The parties came on
elephants, and the Patan chief appeared to be
under great alarm. When the elephants ap-
proached each other, in order that the General
might take hold of the Meer’s hand—the common
salute under such circumstances—the attendant
who sat in the howdah behind him, held a cocked
pistol presented to the General’s breast; and the
horsemen were all prepared with lit matches, and
carbines, and blunderbusses handled. After a
hasty introduction, the Meer called out hurriedly,
“ chulo, chulo!” —* get on, get on,” and they
separated. The General, in a few minutes, retired
to his tent, and Ameer Khan went to one pitched
for him by Sir David’s orders, he having brought
none along with him.
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In the evening, General Ochterlony visited the
Meer on business, and received the customary
presents; and next day visit and presents were
returned. It was remarked by the writer of this
account, that neither in appearance nor in address
did the Patan chief make any favourable im-
pression. He was poor and mean looking, dressed
in a blue turban and dirty white upper garment.
He spoke but little, and what he said was trifling,
plebeian, and in bad style. He said that he was
king of Hindostan, but resigned his claim to it
from friendship for the General. His attendants
talked lightly of him, and abused him for truck-
ling, as they said, to the English, for which he
would get well handled on his return to camp.
His followers were not insolent, but fops in dress,
and ridiculous bullies in talking. Some of them
were handsome, respectable-looking soldiers ; men
chiefly from Rampore and Mhow. The horse-
men were well armed and mounted. There is no
doubt that the Meer’s acquiescence in the treaty,
after all his evasions and subterfuges, was quick-
ened by the news from Nagpore and Poonah
He had intelligence of these battles three days
before it reached the British camp: and he re-
marked that it was all nonsense to try fighting,

—

'R}
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when two battalions could beat so many thousand
men.

Notwithstanding the signature of the treaty,
however, a final settlement with the Patan chief
was not so close at hand. He was overawed by
his turbulent troops, and instead of giving up his
guns according to treaty, they were sent out along
with his infantry to collect money in the Jeypore
territory. At length, however, the mutinous state
of his army, and still more, perhaps, the account
which reached him of the total defeat and dis-
persion of Holcar’s army at Mehidpore, forced
him to a decision. He quitted his own camp, and
came and pitched his tent within a mile of that of
the reserve army. The General visited him next
day, and sent him tents, camels, &c. “ And now,”
continues the writer of this account,  he will lay
himself up in ordinary, and enjoy twenty-two
lakhs of rupees a year, the fruit of his treachery
to Holcar, who had adopted him as a brother, and
put his son into his arms to be to him as a child.
‘While he was temporizing with the English, he
was all along encouraging Guffoor Khan and
Holcar’s Mahratta chiefs to fight in the south. If
they had succeeded he would have joined them ; but
since they have been defeated he stays where he
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is, and secures all his jaghires in Holcar’s country,
as a possession from the British Government for his
son, and five lakhs in ready money for his useless
guns. It was by his advice that Toolsah Byhe,
one of Holcar’s wives, was put to death before the
late action, because she had agreed to come to
terms with the' English.”

The writer may possibly be too severe upon
the Meer in some part of these charges ; for though
there is no doubt of his strong propensity to
intrigue and treachery, when it served his pur-
pose, it is equally certain that if there was a re-
deeming point in the Patan’s character, it was his
long and almost faithful adherence to Holcar.
When that chief died, and his family and court
became a perfect hotbed of vice and intrigue,
without any of the talent required to bring their
ambitious designs to maturity, or to sustain the
influence or power of the government, he may
have fallen off from his allegiance; but then
its object was no more, and he may have thought
that none was left worthy enough, or safe enough,
to cling to. He was a cautious, selfish, unprin-
cipled chief; and, when the strong motive was
gone, he acted up to his character.

Although Sir David, by a happy union of address
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and firmness, succeeded at length in procuring
the fulfilment of all the articles of the treaty,
including the surrender of the Meer’s guns, and
the dispersion or absorption of his troops, the
weak and vacillating government of Jeypore still
held out, the only one of the Rajepoot states
that had not embraced the terms of the British
Government for receiving protection and sup-
port, and, therefore, the army of reserve remained
still stationed in the neighbourhood of its capital.
But Colonel Skinner, with his corps, was ordered
to join a detachment under Colonel Patton, who
was proceeding to Colonel Ludlow’s force at Ram-
poorah. From thence, at the approach of Bajee
Rao, he was summoned, with a thousand of his
horse, by Sir John Malcolm ; but before he could
reach him the Peishwah had come to terms. With
Sir John, at Mhow, he remained two months,
when he was sent to escort Captain Low, in
charge of Bajee Rao, to Bittoor, at which place he
remained six months. In the course of these
gervices, and, indeed, throughout the whole of
this campaign, there occurred no opportunities for
those displays of courage and gallantry, which
enabled the corps to distinguish itself on former
occasions ; but that both corps and commander

.
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acquitted themselves to the perfect satisfaction of
their superiors is amply attested in the annexed
letters.

“To LirvreNant-CoroNer SkinNer, Commanding
Irregular Cavalry. )
¢ Head-quarters, Futtehghur, 20th May 1815.

“Sir,—The Right Honourable the Commander-in-
Chief must not omit to thank you for the zeal and
alacrity with which you proceeded against the refrac-
tory inhabitants of Bhowanee, on the 22nd April last,
and for the timely and judicious manner in which you
had previously detached the 200 sowars to the assist-
ance of the police officers. To these prompt measures
the Commander-in-Chief attributes the rapid suppres-
sion of the insurrection, and he has not failed to bring
the good conduct evinced by you and your corps on
this occasion, under the favourable motice of the
Right Honourable the Governor-General.

“The distinguished gallantry of Runjeet Khan, and
the four sowars mentioned by you, attracted his Excel-
lency’s particular notice, and he desires that his
thanks may be offered to that gallant officer and his
brave companions, for their meritorious services on the
above occasion.—I have the honour to be, &c. &c.

(Signed) “@. H. Faeax,
“Adjutant-General.”
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“Drvision OrpERs.
¢ Camp, Mundissore, 20th Ang. 1818.

“ Brigadier-General Sir John Malcolm cannot allow
Lieutenant-Colonel Skinner’s corps to leave the division
without conveying to that officer, and through him to
his officers and men, his sense of their uniform orderly
and regular conduct. The Brigadier-General has been
for many years familiar with the merits of Lieutenant-
Colonel Skinner; his warmest wishes will ever accom-
pany that officer, and the fine body of men under his
command ; and he trusts the latter will long continne
to find, in a sincere and honourable attachment to their
present leader, additional motives for the faithful and
gallant performance of their duty to the government
they serve.”

—

“ Mundissore, 20th Aug. 1818.

“My DEAR SKINNER,~—I have said and done no
more towards you, than what a sincere regard for a
warm, private friend, and a zealous servant of the
public, dictated. A line was by mistake omitted in
the order, which I have told Napier to correct. My
right to express the feelings I have done in a general
order, refer to my long acquaintance with your merits.
I chall have great satisfaction in transmitting this tes-

VOL. IL L



146 MEMOIRS OF COLONEL SKINNER.

timony to Lord Hastings, as an honest and sincere

tribute to one whom, in my opinion, he has done him-

self honour by patronizing in the manner he has done.
“Yours sincerely,

(Signed)  “JorN Marcorm.”

“To LieuTENANT-COLONEL SKINNER.
« Bittoor, 13th July 1819.

¢ Srr,—The Most Noble the Governor-General in
Council having decided that the services of the main
body of the troops under your command are no longer
required at Bittoor, I have the honour to request, that,
with the exception of one complete rissalah, which is
to remain under my orders for some time longer, you
will be pleased to place yourself and the corps under
the command of Major-General Sir Dyson Marshall,
from whom you will receive the requisite orders re-
specting your future movements.

“The sentiments I entertain of your public con-
duct, and of the uniformly correct behaviour of the
excellent corps under your command, since you have
been employed on your present duty, being fully stated
in my report of this date to Government, of which I
have the pleasure to inclose a copy for your informa-
tion, I have little to add here, but to express my
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anxious wishes for your health and prosperity, and
that the fullest success may attend your exertions in
every service on which you may be employed, and I
beg to assure you, that the many obliging acts of pri-
vate friendship which I have received from you, and
the very cordial and useful aid which, during the last
twelvemonth, you have rendered me in my official
duties on all occasions, have excited feelings of esteem
and gratitude which I can never forget, and have fixed
in my mind the most sincere respect for your cha-
racter, and the warmest interest in your welfare.
¢ I have the honour to be, &c. &c.
(Signed) “Jonn Low,
¢ Commanding with Bajee Rao.”

The Report to Government alluded to in this
letter, contains the highest encomiums on Colonel
Skinner and his corps; but it is too long for in-
sertion here, and merely repeats the sentiments
expressed in Colonel Skinner’s favour on other
occasions, and is therefore omitted.

“ExtrAcT D1visioNn ORDERS by BRIGADIER-GENERAL
Sir JorN Marcory, &c. &c.
Parole, Seronge.
“ Camp, Mhow, 5th Feb. 1819.
“ Brigadier-General Malcolm was much gratified
L2
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this morning, by the review of the 2nd Regiment of
Skinner’s horse, who are (as far as he can judge)
exactly at that point of order and discipline most cal-
culated to maintain their utility and efficiency, and
promote the reputation they have acquired. Bri-
gadier-General Malcolm had lately occasion to express
his admiration of that part of this distingnished corps,
under the immediate command of Lieutenant-Colonel
Skinner. He cannot pay a higher compliment to
Major Robert Skinner, his rissaldars and men, than
by stating his opinion that the 2nd Regiment of
Skinner’s horse is equal to the first, not only in its
discipline and appearance, but in those more essential
principles of internal regulation, which maintain the
character of a corps as high in times of peace as of
war ; by rendering it, from its good order and habits
of regularity, a real protection to the inhabitants of
the country in which it is employed. In this respect,
every report Sir John Malcolm has received of Major
Skinner’s regiment since it entered Malwah has been
the same, and it is one upon which he deems that
officer and those under his command entitled to his
particular praise and thanks.”
(A true copy.)
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“ DeracEMENT MORNING ORDERS.

“ Lieutenant-Colonel Smith cannot allow the attack
made yesterday upon the Arab camp, however unim-
portant it may appear, to pass, without publicly re-
cording his approbation of that event, the result of
which reflects the greatest credit on the troops of the
detachment. e e . . .

“ Lieutenant-Colonel Smith would be wanting in
his duty, were he to omit on this occasion to express
more particularly the high sense he entertains of the
zealous and spirited conduct of Major Skinner, and
the fine body of men under his command. The
steadiness and alacrity with which they obeyed orders,
the regularity of their rapid advance in two columns
round the village where the enemy had been encamped
a few hours before, and their subsequent gallant pur-
suit of the fugitives down the bypaths in the moun-
tains, and the continuance of that pursuit to the very
gates of Asseerghur, was such as would do honour to
any corps, however exalted in character.

“The Lieutenant-Colonel cannot but express his
admiration of the conduct of Skinner's horse, and
requests Major Skinner will communicate those senti-
ments to the men under his command. It will be a
patt of the Lieutenant-Colonel’s duty to bring to the
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notice of his superiors, the conduct of all the officers
and men employed in these services.
(Signed) “ H. CovLe,
“ Brigade Major.
« Camp at Kairee, 15th Feb. 1819.”

A further general order, by Brigadier-General
Malcolm, under date 26th of February 1819,
upon Major Skinner leaving his command, speaks
in the highest terms of that officer and his corps,
and refers, in terms of the highest commendation,
to the conduct of Major Skinner and his corps
in the affair already described by Colonel Smith;
but as the matter has already been given, it be-
comes unnecessary to repeat it.

There 1s, however, a letter written about this
time by Sir John Malcolm to Colonel Skinner,
which, containing as it does that distinguished
officer’s deliberate opinion not only of his corps in
particular, but of the characteristic requisites of
irregular corps in general, is too valuable to be
omitted, and it is therefore given at length :—

“Sre JorN Marcor 1o Lieut.-CoL. SKINNEE.
¢ Mhow, 23rd Dec. 1819.
“My pEAR SKINNER,—I should sooner have an-
gwered your letter, inclosing your reply to the ¢ Bengal
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Cavalry Officer.” Calumnies upon corps or individuals
have on some occasions their uses, when they elicit
that truth from modest merit which gives publicity
to actions that should never be forgotten. This
has been the case on the present occasion. The
plain and admirable statement you have given of these
affairs—which the brain of the Cavalry Officer,’
anxious to establish some favourite hypothesis, con-
fused and misrepresented—will do you and your corps
the greatest credit. You can both boast, that though
there was in an hour of extreme trial some defection,
never was the honour of a body of men better vindi-
cated, than by the exemplary punishment (inflicted by
the corps itself) of the criminal cowards who deserted
their standards.

“The  Bengal Officer’ should have thought more
before he alluded to a partial defection of a few of
your men, asolitary instance of desertion ; and tried on
that ground to stigmatize a class. But he is, I under-
stand, dead; and let the subject, which the impru-
dence of friends has used his name to revive, die
with him. It will be more gratifying, and more
salutary, to allow our minds to dwell upon the nume-
rous instances of heroic valour and unshaken attach.
ment that distinguished both the regulars and irre-
gulars of that fine army, which, commanded by
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our noble friend Lord Lake, conquered Hindos-
tan, than to expose the failings of deceased worth
by groping amidst old posthumous MSS. for produc-
tions probably repented of as soon as written. Bat
with a man who has a purpose to serve, and an editor
who has a page to fill, much less consideration is,
I fear, given than ought to be to the feelings of
others. Letters, however, like that you have sent
to the journal, are calculated to do great good.
Unless there is bad intention (and I acquit the par-
ties of that), they will learn caution when they see the
effect such attacks upon individuals and corps produce.

“I am glad you propose to give a short memoir of
your corps. If written, as I have no doubt it will be,
with the same clear conciseness, and in the same
spirit of modesty and truth, which it no doubt will
be, that marks your letter to the Calcutta journal,
it will be & most valuable document. With respect
to the merits of our irregular horse, you know my
sentiments, We have, both in our own services and
as auxiliaries, many excellent bodies of this class of
“soldiers. Yours are the best I have seen of the
former description, though I believe some of the
Rohilla corps are very good; but yours have had
great advantages, and have made admirable use of
them. I do not mean to flatter, when I say you
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are as good an Englishman as I know; but you
are also a native irregular, half born and fully bred ;
you armed them, understand their characters, enter
into their prejudices; can encourage them, without
spoiling them ; know what they can and, what is
more importent, what they cammof do. The supe-
riority of your corps rests upon a foundation that
no others have. Your rissaldars* are men, gene-
rally speaking, not only of character, but of family;
those under them are not only their military, but their
natural dependants. These are links which it is
difficult for the mere European officers to keep up.
They too often go upon smart men; promote, perhaps,
8 man of low family and indifferent character among
themselves for some gallant actions; and then ascribe
to envy, jéalousy, and all unworthy motives, the defi-
ciency in respect and obedience of those under him;
forgetting the great distinction between regular and
irregular corps in this point. Your personal kind-
ness and generosity to your corps, has also effected
much : and I have even found in Hindostan, fourteen
years ago, and in Malwash during the last two, that
every horseman of your corps considers, whether his
duty requires him to act against the enemy, or to

* Native captaing of troops. A rissalak is generally a
troop of 100 men,
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protect the inhabitants, that he has « Seunder Sakib-
Ke-Alroo” in his keeping. This, I delight in observ-
ing, is a master-motive with them on all occasions.
“To conclude with my opinion upon irregular horse.
Independent of the policy of keeping in pay, or in
the service of our allies, a considerable number of this
class, I know not, on the scale we now are, how we
can operate in the field without them ; but everything
depends on their good management. They are no
more fit for the duties of regular cavalry than the
latter are for theirs. They are our light troops; and
as such have their distinct place: to take them out of
that is their rnin. You know my opinion; that you
have gone to the very verge of making bad regulars of
admirable irregulars.—Yours, ever sincerely‘,

(Signed) “JorN Marcorm.”

Nor was the younger Skinner a whit behind
his brother in rendering himself useful and ac-
ceptable to his commanders during this stirring
period. Immediately after the rains, he was
ordered by Sir John Malcolm to join Colonel
Smith, then in command of a detachment from
the Madras presidency ; and he distinguished him-
self in the pursuit of Appa Sahib, the ex-Rajah of
Nagpore, cutting up his people, with a small party
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of his sowars, to the gates of Asseerghur. And,
in the beginning of 1819, he escorted Chimnajee,
the brother of Bajee Rao, to Allahabad, under
command of Captain Clarke; for both of which
services it will be seen that he received the thanks
of his commanding officers.

‘With this war, commonly called * the Pindarree
war,” the active military career of Colonel Skin-
ner may be said to have closed. There was, in
fact, no longer any field for active service on any
considerable scale in Upper India. Accordingly,
at the close of 1819, one-third of Skinner’s corps
was paid off; the second, under Major Robert
Skinner, was sent to Neemuch; while the re-
maining 1,000 men, with the Colonel himself, con-
tinued at their old quarters of Hansee.

In the mean time, one of the favourite objects
of Skinner’s desire was accomplished, in the grant
of the small estate he had hitherto enjoyed in
his jaghire being made perpetual to his family. It
was an act of bare justice, a8 mere redemption of
a former pledge ; but the manner in which it was
done reflected credit on Lord Hastings, while
conferring a benefit on its object; to whom the
information was conveyed in the following letter
from the secretary to Government :—
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“ To LieuTENANT-COLONEL SKINNER.

“8ir,—It having come to the knowledge of the
Governor-General in Council, that you are solicitous
to secure, as a provision for your family, the perma-
nence of the grant of the jaghire held by you in the
district of Alleeghur, in commutation of your pension
as an officer retired from the service of the Mahratta
states, his Excellency in Council has not hesitated
on resolving to grant the jaghire to you and your
heirs in perpetuity; desiring, by this public mark of
favour, to acknowledge and to remunerate your dis-
tinguished merits and firm attachment to the British
Government, which, throughout a long period of
honourable and active service, have been uniformly
conspicuous.

“Conceiving that it may add to your satisfaction, as
well as be in itself a just reward of very considerable
merit, the Governor-General in Council has been
further pleased to resolve to grant, in perpetuity, to
your brother, Major Robert Skinner, and his heirs,
the small jughire which he holds in the district of
Alleeghur, in commutation of his pension as a Mah-
ratta officer. You are requested to communicate this
resolution to Major Skinner.

“] am directed to inform you that the necessary
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orders will be issued to the proper local authorities
for giving effect to the arrangements of which I have
now had the honour to apprise you.—I have the
honour to be, &c. &c.,
(Signed) “J. Apay,
“ Chief Sec. to Government.”
% Fart William, 26th Sept. 1818.”

The following letters also show the feelings
with which the Colonel’s most attached friends
learned his good fortune :—

# Camp, Mhow, 6th Oct. 1818.

“ My pEaR SkINNER,—I have great pleasure in
giving you the following paragraph of a private letter,
this morning received, from Adam.

“ “Your friend Skinner’s jaghire will be confirmed
to him and his heirs. He well deserves it, and your
eulogy of him is not a bit overcharged.’

“ One of our best Persian songs has a chorus—

¢ Allee Shah-in-shah Moobarik bashud !’
In sober English, I wish you joy, and feel most

warmly to Lord Hastings for his just understanding
of your character.—Yours, ever truly,

(Signed) « Joun Maroorm.”
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¢« 15th Nov. 1818.

“ My pEAR SKINNER,—I cordially congratulate you
on your good fortune, for which you are indebted to
the kindness of Lord Hastings, and your own merits,
which have powerfully recommended you to his favour.
Believe me sincerely joyful at your success, and ever
yours, most truly, (Signed) “C.T. MercavLr.”

“Dear James,—It was not that I did not receive
great pleasure from your communication, but because
I was unwell, and for some time past unable to write,
that it has been so long unacknowledged.

I rejoice very much in the complete accomplish-
ment of your wishes; but, valuable as the gift is, I
think it has been made much more so by the very hand-
some terms in which it has been bestowed, and that
you may long live to enjoy, and to continue to deserve,
such kindness, is the sincere wish of yours, sincerely,

(Signed) “ D. OCHTERLONY.

¢« Camp, 30th Nov. 1818.”

On the death of his brother Robert in 1821,
Colonel Skinner’s corps suffered a further reduc-
tion; Major Skinner’s division being made over
to another officer, Colonel Baddely ; but we shall
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give the winding up of the original memoirs in
the author’s own words.

“1 was, however, still at the head of 1,200
horse; and in 1822 I went to Calcutta, where
I was very kindly treated by Lord Hastings. He
promised that he would not lessen my command
by a single man; but no sooner had he left the
country-than my corps was at once reduced to 800
men. Rapid, indeed, has been my fall. In the
Mahratta service from 1796 to 1803, I had always
a well-grounded hope of rising in rank and for-
tune ; no question was ever raised as to my birth
there. When I entered the British service, I
believed that I gained a field in which the fruits
of zeal and fidelity would be matured and reaped
in perfection ; and no exertions on my part were
spared to forward this object. I imagined myself
to be serving a people who had no prejudices
against caste or colour. But I found myself mis-
taken. All I desired was justice. If I was not
to share in all the privileges of a British subject,
let me be regarded as a native and treatedas such.
If I was to be regarded as a British subject, did
‘the hard labour and ready service of twenty years
merit no more than a pension of 300 rupees per
month; without either rank or station ? and after
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the distinct and repeated promises of the permanent
maintenance of my corps, was it fair that I should
be left liable to be commanded by the youngest
subaltern in the army, deprived of the hope
which I had so fondly entertained of passing my
old age tranquilly in that service to which my
better years had been devoted? But I thank my
Creator that there remains one source of satisfac~
tion—one consolation under every disappoint-
ment ; and it is this,—that I have ever discharged
my duty as a soldier with honour and credit;
that during the space of twenty years, in which
I have served with Europeans, no one can ever
upbraid me with dishonouring “ the steel,” or being
s faithless to my salt”; that, finally, though I
have failed in gaining what I desired and de-
served,—that is, rank,~1 have proved to the world
that I was worthy of it; by serving my king and
my country as zealpusly and loyally as any Briton
in India.”

If any reader should regard the tone of sadness
and disappointment which prevails in this perors-
tion as unreasonable or misplaced, let it be ob-
served that much allowance shonld be mede for
the circumstances of Skinner's pecnliar case. It
may at first sight appear that the “full retiring
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pay of a lieutenant-colonel in the Company’s ser-
vice” was a liberal provision for all that Colonel
Skinner could have done in a three years’ service ;
for no longer had he served when this was first
granted to him. But this would be a very partial
and imperfect view of the case. For regard must,
in the first place, be had to the reasonable hopes
of advancement in rank, and provision for the
future, he had in the Mahratta service, as was
demonstrated by the fortunes which many Euro-
peans made in it, and which he was forced to
abandon. Tn the next place, he might reasonably
pitch his expectations high, when he saw traitors
and deserters receiving splendid allowances; and
even his own native officers pensioned with 5,000
rupees a year each. But he entered the British
service without any sordid views, and with all the
enthusiasm of a generous mind, increased by an
admiration for his first commander. He had been
encouraged by the commendation and the volun-
tary promises of that commander — promises
addressed still more to his thirst for military rank
and honour, than to his interest. Honest and true
himself, he could not but believe that the faith
kept with the treacherous and the cowardly, would
be equally sacred towards the zealous and the brave.
VOL. IL M
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Had even the pittance bestowed upon him been
accompanied by military rank, it would have ful-
filled his most ardent expectations; but when his
birth was brought up as a misfortune, if not a re-
proach, and, like a two-edged blade, was made to
cut both ways against him, it is scarcely to be
wondered at if he became indignant at what
looked very like a pitiful subterfuge for denying
bim that right to honour and reward which had
been conceded and established by so many spon-
taneous declarations and promises in the highest
quarters. It is also to be held in mind that Skin-
ner, at the time when this was written, had
not even imagined the honours which were here-
after to be wrung from the tardy justice of his
country, by the powerful and reiterated repre-
sentations of his many and noble friends; and we
venture to say that few men, if any, in India could
boast of having won so bright and distinguished
a succession of hearty friends as James Skinner;
and of this the correspondence which we have
already given, as well as some letters we still
mean to offer to the reader’s notice, is a sufficient
proof. At a subsequent period, this narrative was
continued ; and it is from this continuation that
we shall now proceed with our work.

.
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From the last-mentioned period,—that is, about
the end of 1822 till 1824,—nothing occurred worth
recording ; nor, in fact, was the corps employed
in that year, in any more serious service than that
of suppressing the outbreaks of certain trouble-
some zemindars, chiefly in the Bhuttee country ;
an